
 
Neuadd y Sir 
Y Rhadyr 
Brynbuga 
NP15 1GA 
 
 

County Hall 
Rhadyr 

Usk 
NP15 1GA 

 
Tuesday, 20 October 2015 

 
Dear Councillor 

INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS 
 

Notice is hereby given that the following decisions made by a member of the cabinet will be 
made on Wednesday, 28 October 2015.  
 
1.   PROTOCOL FOR MANAGING UNAUTHORISED ENCAMPMENTS 

 
Division/Wards Affected:  All Wards 
Cabinet Member: County Councillor Giles Howard 
 
Purpose:  To consider current guidance on managing 
unauthorised encampments and to agree changes to the current 
‘Monmouthshire Protocol for the Management of Unauthorised 
Encampments’, dated June 2009. 
 
 
Report Author:    Huw Owen, Principal EHO 
               David Jones, Head of Community 
Protection 
Contact Details: Tel:  01873 735433 
   Email:           huwowen@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
                davidhjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 
 

1 - 114 

 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
Paul Matthews 
Chief Executive 

Public Document Pack

mailto:huwowen@monmouthshire.gov.uk
mailto:davidhjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 

 

 
 

CABINET PORTFOLIOS 

County 
Councillor 

Area of Responsibility 
Partnership and 
External Working 

Ward 

P.A. Fox 
(Leader) 
 

Organisational Development 
Whole Council Performance, Whole Council 
Strategy Development, Corporate Services, 
Democracy. 

WLGA Council 
WLGA 
Coordinating Board 
Local Service 
Board  

Portskewett 
 
 

R.J.W. Greenland 
(Deputy Leader) 

Innovation, Enterprise & Leisure 
Innovation Agenda, Economic Development, 
Tourism, Social Enterprise, Leisure, Libraries & 
Culture, Information Technology, Information 
Systems. 

WLGA Council 
Capital Region 
Tourism  
 

Devauden 

P.A.D. Hobson 
(Deputy Leader) 

Community Development 
Community Planning/Total Place, Equalities, 
Area Working, Citizen Engagement, Public 
Relations, Sustainability, Parks & Open 
Spaces, Community Safety. 

Community Safety 
Partnership 
Equalities and 
Diversity Group 

Larkfield 

E.J. Hacket Pain Schools and Learning 
School Improvement, Pre-School Learning, 
Additional Learning Needs, Children’s 
Disabilities, Families First, Youth Service, Adult 
Education. 

Joint Education 
Group (EAS) 
WJEC 
 

Wyesham 

G. Howard Environment,  Public Services & Housing 
Development Control, Building Control, 
Housing Service, Trading Standards, Public 
Protection, Environment & Countryside. 

SEWTA 
SEWSPG 

Llanelly Hill 

G. Burrows Social Care, Safeguarding & Health 
Adult Social Services including Integrated 
services, Learning disabilities, Mental Health.  
Children’s Services including Safeguarding, 
Looked after Children, Youth Offending. Health 
and Wellbeing. 

Gwent Frailty 
Board 
Older Persons 
Strategy 
Partnership Group 
 

Mitchel 
Troy 

P. Murphy Resources 
Accountancy, Internal Audit, Estates & Property 
Services, Procurement, Human Resources & 
Training, Health & Safety. 

Prosiect Gwrydd  
Wales Purchasing 
Consortium  

Caerwent 

S.B. Jones County Operations 
Highways, Transport, Traffic & Network 
Management, Waste & Recycling, Engineering, 
Landscapes, Flood Risk. 

SEWTA 
Prosiect Gwyrdd 
 

Goytre 
Fawr 

 



 

 

 

 
Sustainable and Resilient Communities 

 
Outcomes we are working towards 
 
Nobody Is Left Behind  

 Older people are able to live their good life  

 People have access to appropriate and affordable housing  

 People have good access and mobility  
 

People Are Confident, Capable and Involved  

 People’s lives are not affected by alcohol and drug misuse  

 Families are supported  

 People feel safe  
 
Our County Thrives  

 Business and enterprise 

 People have access to practical and flexible learning  

 People protect and enhance the environment 
 
Our priorities 
 

 Schools 

 Protection of vulnerable people 

 Supporting Business and Job Creation 

 Maintaining locally accessible services 
 

Our Values 
 

 Openness: we aspire to be open and honest to develop trusting relationships. 

 Fairness: we aspire to provide fair choice, opportunities and experiences and 

become an organisation built on mutual respect. 

 Flexibility: we aspire to be flexible in our thinking and action to become an effective 

and efficient organisation. 

 Teamwork: we aspire to work together to share our successes and failures by 

building on our strengths and supporting one another to achieve our goals. 



 

 

 
 

Cymunedau Cynaliadwy a Chryf 
 

Canlyniadau y gweithiwn i'w cyflawni 
 
Neb yn cael ei adael ar ôl 

 Gall pobl hŷn fyw bywyd da 

 Pobl â mynediad i dai addas a fforddiadwy 

 Pobl â mynediad a symudedd da 
 

Pobl yn hyderus, galluog ac yn cymryd rhan 

 Camddefnyddio alcohol a chyffuriau ddim yn effeithio ar fywydau pobl 

 Teuluoedd yn cael eu cefnogi 

 Pobl yn teimlo'n ddiogel 
 

Ein sir yn ffynnu 

 Busnes a menter 

 Pobl â mynediad i ddysgu ymarferol a hyblyg 

 Pobl yn diogelu ac yn cyfoethogi'r amgylchedd 
 

Ein blaenoriaethau 

 Ysgolion 

 Diogelu pobl agored i niwed 

 Cefnogi busnes a chreu swyddi 

 Cynnal gwasanaethau sy’n hygyrch yn lleol 
 
Ein gwerthoedd 
 

 Bod yn agored: anelwn fod yn agored ac onest i ddatblygu perthnasoedd 
ymddiriedus 

 Tegwch: anelwn ddarparu dewis teg, cyfleoedd a phrofiadau a dod yn sefydliad a 
adeiladwyd ar barch un at y llall. 

 Hyblygrwydd: anelwn fod yn hyblyg yn ein syniadau a'n gweithredoedd i ddod yn 
sefydliad effeithlon ac effeithiol. 

 Gwaith tîm: anelwn gydweithio i rannu ein llwyddiannau a'n methiannau drwy 
adeiladu ar ein cryfderau a chefnogi ein gilydd i gyflawni ein nodau. 

 

 

 



00:00  
 

REPORT  
 
SUBJECT:        PROTOCOL FOR MANAGING UNAUTHORISED ENCAMPMENTS 
DIRECTORATE:  CHIEF EXECUTIVES 
MEETING:         Individual Cabinet Member – Giles Howard  
DATE:          28th October 2015 
DIVISIONS/WARDS AFFECTED:    All Wards   
 
1. PURPOSE:   
 
1.1 To consider current guidance on managing unauthorised encampments and to 

agree changes to the current ‘Monmouthshire Protocol for the Management of 
Unauthorised Encampments’, dated June 2009. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 
   
2.1 Agree the proposed changes to the unauthorised camping procedure, together with 

the associated assessment forms, and adopt Monmouthshire’s revised ‘Protocol for 
the Management of Unauthorised Encampments’, dated October 2015, as set out 
in Appendix 1. 

 
3.  KEY ISSUES: 
 
3.1 Cabinet report dated 3rd June 2009 recommended the adoption of a policy 

statement on managing Gypsy and Traveller sites in Monmouthshire, and the 
adoption of a  protocol for the management of unauthorised encampments. The 
report was endorsed and is provided as a background paper. 

 
3.2     An unauthorised encampment is an encampment of caravans and/or vehicles on 

land without the landowner’s or occupiers consent and therefore constituting 
trespass.  

 
3.3   The roles and responsibilities of the Council for dealing with unauthorised 

encampments are set out in the protocol adopted in 2009. This established that the 
Council will take the lead where the encampment is on land owned by the Council 
or is on common land. 

 
3.4   An unauthorised encampment can be any group of individuals or vehicles 

trespassing on land. The Council’s Officers are actively involved with approximately 
five to ten each year and these are generally encampments of Gypsies and 
Travellers. The size of recent encampments has ranged from a single caravan to 
twenty plus, (car park in Monmouth during June 15). Environmental Health take the 
initial lead but an inter-agency approach is then followed. This is in line with the 
protocol to deal with the encampment in a manner that endeavours to strike a 
balance between the needs of the Gypsies and Travellers, members of the settled 
community, local businesses and the responsibility the Council has for the 
management of its land. 

 
3.6    Welsh Government has updated its advice to local authorities, in its document 

‘Guidance on Managing Unauthorised Camping 2013’ which is aimed at addressing 
the specific issues around unauthorised encampments of Gypsies and Travellers.  

 
3.7    The proposed changes to the adopted protocol and specifically the ‘unauthorised 

camping procedure’ and assessment forms used, take account of this Welsh 
Government guidance. It also takes into account the experiences of Officers in 
dealing with recent encampments, to ensure that it is fit for purpose and properly 
balances the issues. The key principles and values of the 2009 protocol remain. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



 
3.8      Although beyond the scope of this report, members will wish to note that there is a    

wider debate regarding the provision of Gypsy and Traveller sites in local authority 
areas. Colleagues in the Housing section are currently undertaking a Gypsy and 
Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment, as required by the provisions of the 
Housing Acts 1985 and 2004. A report is intended to be submitted to Cabinet on 
this issue in the near future. Training will also be provided to ensure the relevant 
Acts are correctly implemented. 

 
 
4. REASONS:  
 
4.1 To ensure that the protocol fully reflects latest guidance, that the procedures are 

effective, efficient and the local authority is clear on how it will respond to an 
encampment, who will take the lead and who else will be involved. 

 
 
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 
 
5.1 There is no specific budget for dealing with unauthorised encampments, with any 

costs generally being borne by the relevant service. For example Waste and 
Resources section for clearing litter and waste. 

 

6 Future Generations Evaluation: 
 

6.1 The Future Generations Evaluation, including equalities and sustainable impact 
assessments, is provided in Appendix 2. The revisions have a positive impact on 
these issues, for the reasons provided.  

 
7. CONSULTEES:  
  

SLT 
Cabinet Members 
Chairs of Select Committees 
Head of Legal Services 
 
Results of Consultation  
No adverse comments have been received. 
 

 
9. BACKGROUND PAPERS:  
 
 Cabinet Report 3rd June 2009 ‘Policy for Gypsy and Traveller Sites and Protocol for              

Managing Unauthorised Encampments’  
Welsh Government ‘Guidance on Managing Unauthorised Camping 2013’ 

 
10. AUTHOR: 
 
          Huw Owen, Principal EHO 
          David Jones, Head of Community Protection 
           
 
11. CONTACT DETAILS: 
 
          TELEPHONE 01873 735433 
           huwowen@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
           davidhjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

Page 2

mailto:huwowen@monmouthshire.gov.uk
mailto:davidhjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk


MONMOUTHSHIRE PROTOCOL FOR THE MANAGEMENT OF UNAUTHORISED ENCAMPMENTS  

Management Guidance for use by Monmouthshire County Council, working in liaison with the 

Monmouthshire Local Policing Unit of Gwent Police  

Revised October 2015 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 3



1. INTRODUCTION  

1.1 Aim  

The aim of this Protocol is to address the need for an effective, inter-agency approach to the 
management of unauthorised encampments in Monmouthshire.  

1.2 Scope  

The scope of the Protocol extends to how the Council works with Gwent Police where these 

situations arise, recognising other Public bodies such as the Local Health Board and the Environment 

Agency may also need to be involved, dependent on local circumstances.  

1.3 Definitions  

There are three main Gypsy and Traveller groupings travelling or ‘residing’ in England and Wales. 

These are traditional British (Romany) Gypsies, traditional Irish Travellers and New Travellers. The 

first two groupings are accepted as ethnic minorities for the purpose of race relations legislation. All 

of these groups have different economic, social, cultural and lifestyles characteristics. For the 

purpose of this document, groups and individuals belonging to any of these groups will be referred 

to as ‘Gypsies and Travellers’.  

Unauthorised encampments refers to encampments of caravans and/or other vehicles on land 

without the landowner or occupier's consent and constituting trespass.  

1.4 Local Situation  

Although unauthorised encampments are infrequent in Monmouthshire, it is important the Council 

is prepared for such eventualities and acts consistently.  

Gypsies and Travellers have previously occupied, for example, M.C.C.'s Countryside sites in Clydach 

South, (various occasions) and Castle Meadows, Abergavenny (once to date, in July, 2008). They 

have also pitched on a site in Usk and on lay-by's on the A465 trunk road between Abergavenny and 

Hereford. Although land occupied is typically owned by the Council, it could belong to National 

Assembly Wales (trunk roads), Forestry Commission or others.  

2. POLICY CONTEXT  

2.1 The WAG Guidance on Managing Unauthorised Camping (NAFWC 04/2005) came into effect in 

February 2005. Further advice has been provided in Welsh Government document Guidance on 

Managing Unauthorised Camping 2013. 

This Guidance’s overall objective is to assist local authorities, Police and others to tackle 

unauthorised camping to minimise the disruption it can cause. In doing this, it aims:  

• To help strike an appropriate balance between the needs and legitimate expectations of members 

of the settled community, local businesses and other landowners, and Gypsy-Travellers.  

• To set out recommended courses of action which all local authorities and Police forces should 

follow to provide an effective response to unauthorised camping in their areas.  

• To encourage a more consistent approach, building on current good practice and sharing 

experience.  

Page 4



• To show how to engage the settled and Gypsy-Traveller communities in order to achieve 'buy in' to 

the strategy, which is vital to ensure its effective delivery.  

The Guidance is primarily aimed at local authorities and Police who share responsibility for managing 

unauthorised camping, but will also be relevant to all bodies likely to be involved in partnership 

approaches. While the Guidance is advisory, local authorities and Police are strongly advised to bear 

it in mind when devising and implementing their approaches and are reminded that the courts may 

refer to it as a material consideration in eviction or other enforcement decisions.  

In the interests of avoiding repetition the guidance is not included within this Protocol. 

Monmouthshire County Council and Gwent Police have agreed to adopt the recommendations 

contained within the guidance (2005) as a model of good practice. The October 2015 revisions to 

this Protocol (taking into account the 2013 Guidance) relate mainly to the unauthorised camping 

procedure for Monmouthshire County Council officers. Officers will be referring to this guidance in 

the course of their work in relation to the management of unauthorised encampments. 

2.2 The Race Relations Act 1976 makes it unlawful to treat someone less favourably on the grounds 

of colour, race, nationality, ethnic or national origins. Both Romany Gypsies and Irish Travellers are 

recognised in law as racial groups. The Race Relations Amendment Act 2000 places a general duty on 

public bodies to promote racial harmony between different racial groups. The Human Rights Act 

1998 also protects Travellers from unlawful discrimination.  

2.3 Section 225 of the Housing Act (2004) requires local authorities to:  

• Include Gypsy and Traveller accommodation needs within the Local Housing Assessment process  

• Consult on new planning guidance so that local authorities will have to ascertain local need for 

Gypsy and Traveller sites and identify suitable locations accordingly  

• Ensure accurate information on the levels of need for sites and other types of provision will in 

future be provided via Local Housing Needs Assessment, rather than via the Gypsy and Traveller 

Caravan Count  

3.1.2 Powers Available to Local Authorities  

The Government believes that local authorities should always follow a route that requires a court 

order. Local authorities and public bodies must have regard to considerations of common humanity 

or other statutory duties and must ensure that the human rights of unauthorised campers and the 

neighbouring community are safeguarded. Local authorities have a range of powers to tackle 

unauthorised encampments:  

a) A landowner (including a local authority) can obtain a possession order in the civil courts requiring 

the removal of trespassers from property, including land. Under the Civil Procedures Rules Part 55 

the claim must be issued in the County Court in whose jurisdiction the property or land is situated. 

Exceptionally the claim may be issued in the High Court if there is substantial risk of public 

disturbance or of serious harm to persons or property which properly require immediate 

determination.  

b) The Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 (CJPOA) gives local authorities in England and 

Wales powers to make directions to leave land being used by itinerant groups (s77). It is an offence 

to fail to comply with such a direction. In proceedings for an offence under this section, it is a 

defence for the accused to show that his failure to leave or to remove the vehicle or other property 

as soon as practicable, or his re-entry with a vehicle, was due to illness, mechanical breakdown or 

Page 5



other immediate emergency. If the direction to leave is not complied with, the local authority can 

apply to magistrates' court for an order requiring the removal of vehicles and any occupants from 

the land (s78).  

c) Local highways authorities have powers to evict unauthorised campers from highway land in 

certain circumstances under the Highways Acts. Section 143 of the Highways Act 1980 requires 

unauthorised campers to be given 28 days notice to leave.  

d) Under Section 33 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, it is prohibited to deposit, treat, keep 

or dispose of controlled waste on any land, unless an appropriate licence is in force. Officers of 

Natural Resource Wales or the local authority may stop (with Police support) any vehicle believed to 

be carrying “controlled waste”. Drivers of vehicles used without relevant documentation may be 

subject to being reported to the Court and their vehicle seized.  

e) Where Gypsies and Travellers (or anyone else) buy land and develop it as a caravan site without 

planning consent, any enforcement must be through the planning system. The powers described 

above against trespass cannot be used. A breach of planning control is not in itself an offence; 

enforcement is a matter for the discretion of the local planning authority. Decisions to enforce must 

be made on planning grounds. Some key factors may include whether the breach of control 

unacceptably affects public amenity, highway safety, public landscape, or the existing use of land or 

buildings meriting protection in the public interest. The action taken should be proportionate to the 

breach.  

f) Other - there are a range of other powers available to Monmouthshire County Council. For 

example, the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 provides local authorities with 

powers to keep areas clean and safe.  

The Anti Social Behaviour Act 2003 could also be used.  

3.2 The Police  

3.2.1 Powers are available to the Police under the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 ss61-

62. Gwent Police work closely with the County Council and are supportive of the approach involving 

discussion, dialogue and negotiation with Gypsy and Traveller groups. Police representation will be 

present at Case Conferences called to discuss an unauthorised encampment.  

3.2.2 Powers Available to the Police  

Powers are available to the Police under the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994. Under s61 

of the CJPOA, the Police have discretionary powers to direct trespassers to leave land. The senior 

Police Officer present can direct trespassers to leave if reasonable steps have been taken by or on 

behalf of the landowner/ occupier to ask them to leave and there are two or more people intending 

to reside on the land. Any one of three further conditions must be met:  

• if any of those persons has caused damage to the land or to property on the land; or  

• used threatening, abusive or insulting words or behaviour towards the occupier, a member of his 

family or an employee or agent of his; or  

• those persons have between them six or more vehicles on the land.  

Section 61 cannot be used on land on the highway (with limited specific exclusions listed by s61 

(9)(b)). It is an offence to fail to leave the land as soon as reasonably practicable or to enter the land 

again as a trespasser within three months of the date the direction was given.  

Page 6



The current guidance from the Association of Chief Police Officers (ACPO) refers to some of the 

circumstances in which it might be appropriate to use s61 against an encampment.  

• The statutory conditions must be met. In other words, the unauthorised campers must clearly have 

failed to respond to requests from or on behalf of the legal occupier of the land to leave before the 

Police can act. (Some Police forces have streamlined this process by drawing up standard documents 

which, when signed by the owner/occupier of the land, give the Police authority to act as their 

agents in dealing with the encampment. This will be a future consideration for Gwent Police)  

• The fact that a landowner initially allows an encampment to remain does not preclude subsequent 

Police action so long as it is clear that reasonable steps have since been taken by the 

landowner/occupier to get the unauthorised campers to move, and that they have failed to do so.  

• The fact that a local authority has started to make welfare enquiries cannot be taken as an 

indication that the encampment is being allowed to remain since this is an essential precondition for 

eviction action.  

• The decision to use s61 is an operational one. Its early use should always be considered where it is 

likely to be a proportionate response and especially where there is evidence of:  

• unacceptable behaviour by unauthorised campers at the encampment, including individual 

criminal activity, which cannot be controlled by means other than eviction;  

• significant disruption to the life of the surrounding community;  

• serious breaches of the peace or disorder caused by the encampment.  

• Where triggers such as the above are experienced, good practice suggests that Police should be 

prepared to act as long as the statutory conditions are met. Police forces/commands should not 

adopt blanket policies or presumptions either for or against the use of s61.  

The decision whether or not to issue a direction to leave is an operational one for the Police alone to 

take in the light of all of the circumstances of the particular case but within the Protocol framework. 

In making their decision the senior Officer at the scene may wish to take account of the personal 

circumstances of the trespassers. For example, the presence of elderly persons, invalids, pregnant 

women, children and other persons whose well-being may be jeopardised by a precipitate move. 

While Police Officers do not have to undertake welfare enquiries as such, they must be aware of 

humanitarian considerations in reaching their decisions and must ensure that all decisions are 

proportionate. A decision may be taken to explicitly exclude individuals or families with serious 

welfare needs from a s61 direction to leave. CJPOA Section 62A to 62E provides the Police with a 

power to direct trespassers to leave land and to remove any vehicles and other property from the 

land, where there is a suitable pitch available on a caravan site elsewhere in the local authority area. 

Where a direction has been given to a person, it is an offence for that person to enter any land in the 

local authority as a trespasser within three months of the direction being given.  

3.3 Powers Available to Other Landowners  

Private landowners may obtain a possession order through the civil courts requiring the removal of 

trespassers from their land, using Civil Procedures Rules Part 55 in the County Court. Private 

landowners have no welfare responsibilities towards Gypsies and Travellers and would not be 

expected to take unauthorised campers' needs into account when deciding to evict.  

Page 7



Some private landowners seek to avoid the expense and costs of going to court by using common 

law powers to recover land from trespassers using 'reasonable force' as necessary. Such action is 

lawful and some firms of bailiffs have carried out many evictions effectively and without trouble. 

Good practice guidelines for common law evictions would seek to ensure that no more than 

necessary 'reasonable force' is used. In addition:  

• Police should always be notified of an eviction and called in to stand by to prevent a breach of the 

peace.  

• If Police advise that it is inappropriate to carry out an eviction, it should always be delayed until an 

agreed time.  

There is a role for local authorities and Police in managing unauthorised camping on private land:  

• As a minimum, local authorities should inform private landowners about their rights to recover 

land from trespassers, through the courts or using common law powers. Authorities should not offer 

legal advice to landowners but rather refer them to Citizens' Advice Bureaux or solicitors. Authorities 

should remind landowners about the importance of using reputable bailiffs and only 'reasonable 

force'.  

• Within the overall strategy for managing unauthorised camping, the local authority might consider 

acting more directly against encampments when requested by a private landowner, particularly if 

the Police are not prepared to use s61 to evict the encampment.  

• Police should take action if any criminal offences are perpetrated during eviction action by bailiffs 

or private firms. 

4. GUIDELINES FOR MANAGING UNAUTHORISED ENCAMPMENTS  

4.1 First Response  

The party receiving initial notification of an unauthorised encampment should take the initiative in 

advising the likely lead authority. Where there is an immediate risk of a large illegal encampment on 

an open space, there may well be an emergency response from the Police which is likely to involve 

blocking access points.  

4.2 The Lead Authority  

• The Council will act as lead authority in respect of unauthorised camping on the highway, on land 

owned by the Council, or on common land.  

• The Police will lead when the decision has been taken to enact powers under Section 61-62E of 

CJPOA.  

• In some cases the lead authority will not be easily identified, for example where an encampment is 

on both public and private land. In such cases the decision as to who will be lead authority should be 

based on the extent to which the encampment is on the highway or private land. If the majority of 

the land occupied is Council owned or Highways, the Council will lead; if the majority is private land 

Gwent Police will usually take the lead.  

 

 

 

Page 8



4.3 Action Following Notification of an Unauthorised Encampment Site Visit  

When notification of an unauthorised encampment is received, an Officer representing the lead 

authority will visit the site at the first opportunity (normally within 24 hours) to consider the 

acceptability of the encampment. The Officer may choose to make a joint visit with a Police Officer. 

The lead authority will give attention to any complaints received or other issues that may arise from 

the encampment and location. 

An Initial Encampment Assessment will be undertaken during the site visit. This will be recorded as 

outlined in Appendix 3 document 1.  If the expected duration of stay is more than 3 days a Welfare 

Assessment will also be undertaken. Thereafter the authorities concerned will consult and decide 

upon the most appropriate course of action, normally by means of convening a Case Conference.  

Enquiries will commence in advance of the Case Conference to establish if vacancies exist at nearby 

official sites, (e.g. Blaenau Gwent and Torfaen). If vacancies do exist at any of these sites then the 

group will be directed to relocate to the appropriate location. 

4.4 The Case Conference  

Where a Case Conference is convened, representatives from the Council, Police, Education and 

Health Services will be consulted as necessary. Members or representatives of both the settled and 

travelling communities may be invited to attend at the lead authority’s discretion. Social Services, 

Education and other agencies may be asked to attend where this is considered appropriate.  

The Case Conference will consider the encampment in relation to its location, any health, welfare 

and educational needs, criminal or anti-social behaviour, environmental impact and human rights 

considerations. Following careful consideration of all these factors, recommendations around how 

to proceed will be decided. Any decision will need to be notified to the Head of Community 

Protection for Monmouthshire County Council and Gwent Police.  

A summary of the purpose of the Case Conference, and how its conducted, is provided in Appendix 

1.  

4.5 Action Following a Case Conference  

Following the case conference, if the recommendation is taken to evict an unauthorised 

encampment the aim should be to act quickly and efficiently; to use powers most appropriate to the 

circumstances and to reduce scope for challenge through the courts by ensuring that policies and 

procedures are properly followed.  

4.6 Management of an Unauthorised Encampment  

Whether or not a decision is made to tolerate the encampment for up to 28 days, the local authority 

will need to decide whether it is necessary or appropriate to offer or to provide basic facilities. Such 

facilities may include toilets, waste disposal and where economical, running water.  

The local authority will ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, that any waste is removed both 

during the encampment and immediately upon its vacation, except when an encampment is on 

private land, when clearance costs are the responsibility of the landowner.  

Where costs are incurred, for example for the provision of toilet facilities and refuse collection, the 

Authority will seek payment from the Gypsies and Travellers where practicable.  

 

Page 9



4.7 Consideration of Existing Unauthorised Encampments  

If it is agreed to allow an unauthorised encampment to remain, or if an encampment has been in 

place for some time, the lead authority will keep the encampment under review to ensure broad 

compliance with standards set for acceptably of continuation. In some cases it may be necessary to 

call a further case conference, particularly if there is an escalation in the scale or impact of 

unauthorised camping (or significant change in the level of anti-social activity in the area). In such 

instances a case conference will follow the same format and principles set out in this Protocol for 

dealing with newly established encampments.  

Any decisions taken regarding the unauthorised encampment should be communicated to all parties 

concerned.  

4.8 Media Contact  

Contact with the media is the responsibility of the lead authority, to which all enquiries should be 

referred. Should a press release be necessary, and where time allows it, Monmouthshire County 

Council and Gwent Police should be asked for their comments. Copies of press releases should be 

distributed to all relevant parties prior to its release. A press release should refer to the Protocol 

process jointly undertaken by the agencies and give the context under which any decision has been 

reached.  

4.9 Unacceptable Encampment Locations  

Unauthorised encampments are almost always, by definition, unlawful. However, while there are 

insufficient authorised sites, it is recognised that some unauthorised camping will continue. There 

are locations, however, where an encampment will not be acceptable under any circumstances. 

Each encampment location must be considered on its own merits against criteria such as health and 

safety considerations for the unauthorised campers, traffic hazard, public health risks, serious 

environmental damage, genuine nuisance to neighbours and proximity to other sensitive land-uses. 

Set out below is a list of the types of site where unauthorised camping would not normally be 

acceptable:  

1. A site of special scientific interest (S.S.S.I.).  

2. A school car park or playing field.  

3. A verge of a busy road where an encampment would pose a danger to both campers and road 

users.  

4. Locations where there is significant health and safety risk to campers.  

5. A site where pollution from vehicles or dumping could damage water or water courses.  

Government guidance suggests that wherever possible, local authorities and/or Police should seek 

to prevent Gypsies and Travellers from establishing an encampment in an unacceptable location. 

Where this proves impossible, they should attempt to encourage the unauthorised campers to move 

to an authorised site where available. Identification of possible alternative sites could assist local 

authorities and the Police in the management of unauthorised encampments in circumstances 

where there are no available pitches on authorised sites. If the unauthorised campers refuse to 

move from an unacceptable location, eviction processes (including appropriate welfare enquiries) 

should be commenced. 

 

Page 10



4.10 Procedure Summary  

A summary of the general procedure for managing unauthorised encampments is provided in 

Appendix 2.  

5. ACTION TO BE TAKEN FOLLOWING THE DEPARTURE OF THE ILLEGAL ENCAMPMENT.  

5.1 A meeting will be convened to review the decisions and the effectiveness of the management 

process. This will be treated by all Officers concerned as an opportunity to learn and improve 

practice and not apportioning fault in relation to any difficulties that occurred during time that the 

illegal encampment was present. Officers will be reminded at the outset of the meeting that the 

purpose of this Protocol is to balance the need to protect property from trespass and consider the 

human rights and the ongoing welfare of Gypsies and Travellers in our area.  

5.2 Consideration should be given to the contents of any press statement or response to press 

enquiries. The principle purpose of any statement should be to reduce any community concerns, 

protect social cohesion and demonstrate fairness in how the Council has carried out its 

responsibilities. Officers will exercise their discretion as to whether any press releases might serve a 

positive purpose.  

5.3 The appropriate teams for example Environmental Health or the section with responsibility for 

managing the land will inspect the conditions at the vacated site and commission arrangements for 

the removal of any waste left over from the encampment. If any dangerous or harmful products be 

discovered at the site location arrangements should be made for their removal in accordance with 

standard public protection procedures. If any graffiti is within found within the immediate locality 

this should be removed. Racist graffiti should be removed as a priority in accordance with standard 

procedures.  

6. REPORT AUTHOR  

David H Jones, Head of Community & Environmental Protection  

davidhjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk  

01633 644101  

Protocol incorporates comments made through consultation with:  

Corporate Management Team  

Strategic Development Group of Community Safety Partnership  

Environmental Health & Planning, Monmouthshire CC  

Equalities & Access Officer, Monmouthshire CC 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 11



Appendix 1 

Case Conference, based on the Welfare Assessment       

When an unauthorised encampment occurs, the lead Authority needs to establish who is living 

there, the likely period of occupation, and its impact on the local community. The Welfare 

Assessment is intended to provide sufficient background information to enable balanced and 

informed decisions to be made concerning its tolerance or otherwise. The checklist should be 

completed by the lead authority and copies distributed thereafter.  

Those taking part in the case conference should be reminded that the Race Relations Act 1976 

makes it an offence to discriminate against someone because of race, colour, nationality or 

citizenship, or ethnic or national background. Furthermore, the Race Relations Amendment Act of 

2000 also places a duty on public bodies to promote good relations between people of different 

ethnic groups.  

As Gypsies have been recognised as an ethnic group since 1989 and Irish Travellers since 2000 both 

groups are protected under the Race Relations legislation. Those participating in a case conference 

should be mindful of the legislation and at all times use language and behaviour that is appropriate 

and respectful.  

Data Protection Act 1998  

The Data Protection Act regulates the holding and processing of personal data, that is information 

relating to living individuals, which is held either on computer or in manual form. The Act gives 

enforceable rights to individuals (data subjects) and places obligations on those legal persons (data 

controllers) who control the manner and the purpose of the processing of personal data. It will be 

the responsibility of the signatories to this Protocol to ensure that information supplied to them 

under this Protocol will be used solely for the purpose for which it was obtained. They should also 

ensure that such information is not disclosed to unauthorised personnel and keep all relevant data 

confidential and comply with the Data Protection Act and all other relevant legislation and guidance.      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                          

Page 12



Appendix 2 

UNAUTHORISED CAMPING PROCEDURE                                                                              

 

General Procedure 

Step 1  The Lead Officer is the Officer with responsibility for overseeing this procedure. For 
Monmouthshire County Council it will be the Head of Community Protection  
 
Upon notification of an unauthorised encampment on council owned land or 
common land an initial site visit will be carried out by an Environmental Health 
Officer (E.H.O.) within 24 hrs if possible. The EHO will endeavour to identify the 
spokesperson for the encampment and discuss their intentions.  
 
If the expected duration of stay is 3 days or less an Initial Encampment Assessment  
(Appendix 3 Doc 1) is to be undertaken. 
 
If the expected duration of stay is more than 3 days an Initial Encampment 
Assessment and Welfare Assessment (Appendix 3 Docs 1 and 2) is to be undertaken. 
 
Where the decision is made not to undertake a full Welfare Assessment, the EHO 
should satisfy themselves that they do not consider there to be an immediate 
danger to either the residents of the encampment or the local community. Certain 
sites will be deemed unacceptable locations where any trespass will not be 
tolerated, (as provided in 4.9 of Protocol). 
 
The EHO will be the initial Single Point of Contact (SPOC), will liaise with the section 
that has responsibility for land on behalf of the council and agree their section SPOC. 
The section SPOC will normally deal with any local enquiries/complaints including 
from members. 
 
 Information to be shared with Gwent Police as appropriate. 
 
 

Step 2  Where the expected duration of stay is 3 days or less the EHO and/or Section SPOC 
will monitor to ensure the site is vacated. If the site is not vacated the EHO and if 
possible the Section SPOC to revisit and discuss intentions with the encampment 
spokesperson. A Welfare Assessment to be undertaken if it has not already been 
done.  A Welfare Assessment should be undertaken no later than 3 days after the 
encampment has been reported. 

Step 3 The EHO will invite relevant officers of the council, the police, county councillor and 
other persons considered appropriate to a case conference to decide the 
appropriate way forward.  

Step 4 The Heads of Community Protection and the Section responsible for the land 
concerned to be informed of the outcome of the case conference and the decision 
to issue proceedings or to tolerate the trespass in accordance with the following 
procedure. 

  

 

 

Page 13



Toleration/Eviction Procedure 

Step 1 The E.H.O. circulates the Welfare Assessment with the case conference invite. E.H.O. 
will carry out site visits in order to monitor conditions and circumstances at the site 
pending the case conference. 
The following matters will be monitored: 
 

 Confirmation of persons/vehicles 

 Public health issues. 

 Welfare/health needs of travellers, for example advanced pregnancy, ill 
health, educational needs. This would be done by referring it to a health 
visitor and/or education/social services. 

 Compliance with agreed departure date. 
 

 

Step 2  The Case Conference Group will consider all relevant information provided by those 
who attend. Formal Minutes of the meeting will be taken and it should take place no 
longer than one week after the arrival of the encampment. The EHO will normally 
chair the meeting and the Section SPOC take minutes. 
 
Proposed recommendation for action will be either: 
 

 S.77 Serving of Direction on campers (Monmouthshire County Council) or 
S.61 (Gwent Police), under Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994. 

Or 
 

 Tolerate encampment for up to 28 days. In this circumstance consideration 
to be given to the provision of the following essential services: 

- Domestic refuse collection 
- Toilet facilities (Portaloos) 

Payment for the provision of the above services to be sought from the 
Gypsy/Travellers, where practicable otherwise will fall to the Section 
responsible for the land. 
 

Or 
 

 To find an alternative site, if only on a temporary basis, and offer the Gypsy 
or Traveller occupiers the chance to move onto it. 
 

The Heads of Community Protection and the Section responsible for the land to be 
informed of the outcome of the case conference and the decision agreed. 

Step 3  Evict: 

 Legal to prepare Direction to Leave 

 EHO and/or Section SPOC to serve Direction and provide list of sites in area 

 Direction period lapsed Legal to provide Court Summons.  EHO and/or 
Section SPOC to serve 

 Court Order obtained. Responsibility for enforcing with section responsible 
for land 

 
Or  
 

Page 14



Tolerate: 
EHO and/or Section SPOC to communicate decision to Encampment spokesperson. 
Discuss and agree  

 Negotiated Code of Conduct for Tolerated Stopping (Appendix 3 Doc 3) 
while on site 

 Provision and payment for services as agreed in Case Conference 
 

EHO and/or Section SPOC to monitor for the tolerated period agreed in case 
conference  
 
Or 
 
EHO and/or Section SPOC to advise of an alternative site if one is available 

 

Step 4  Steps 1, 2 and 3 will be repeated until: 
 

 Travellers leave in accordance with agreed departure date. 
Or 
 

 Eviction procedure implemented. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15



 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 3 Document 1 

 
Initial Encampment Assessment 

 

Date of Assessment  
 

Time of Assessment  
 

Assessor/s  
 

 

  Response Comments 
/Follow Up 

1. Location of Encampment 
 
 

  

2. Landowner Identified 
 

  

3. Landowner Complaint Made 
 

  

4. Number of Occupants 
How many Men? 
How many Women? 
How many Children (under 18)? 

  

5. Number of Vehicles 
How many Cars and Vans? 
Any other vehicles? 

  

6. Number of Caravans 
 

  

7. Number of Animals and 
general welfare conditions 
 

  

8. Damage to Land Evident Existing state of 
land: 
 

 

Page 16



 
Any damage 
caused by gaining 
entry: 
 
 

9. Litter or Waste Present 
 
 

  

10. Immediate Welfare Issues 
Identified: 
May include: pregnancy, elderly 
people, sickness, disability, 
receiving urgent, planned or a 
course of medical treatment, 
children close to exam period. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

11. Impact of encampment to 
public, neighbours or 
Landowner 
 
 

  

12. Environmental impact? 
(Is this a Site of Special 
Scientific Interest, in a flood 
risk area, contaminated land, 
protected species known, risk 
of polluted watercourses? 
Consult Natural Resource 
Wales) 

  

Survey of Occupants 
 

13 Have you stayed in this area 
before? 
 

  

 Where? 
 

  

 When? 
 

  

 Any problems encountered? 
 

  

14. Reasons for this stay? 
There may be multiple reasons, 
including: 
Passing through, 
Local to the area, 
Work in the area, 
No authorised pitch, 
Family event, 

  

Page 17



Visting/Holiday, 
Illness, 
Hospital Visit, 
Other 

 Date of arrival?   

 How long are you expecting to 
stay here? 

  

 Are you expecting more 
people to arrive? 

  

 How many? 
When? 

  

15. Do you have permanent 
accommodation (pitch or 
bricks and mortar) anywhere 
else? 

  

 Do you want permanent 
accommodation (pitch or 
bricks and mortar) in the area? 
Do you want to discuss your 
options with a housing advice 
officer? 

  

 Are you seeking a transit pitch 
in the area? 

  

16. Are you willing and able to pay 
for services on this 
encampment? (provide 
estimated cost; services 
should not be withheld purely 
due to lack of payment) 

Toilets: 
 
Water: 
 
Refuse: 
 
Other: 

 

 

17. Are there school age children 
on site? Are they accessing 
school?  

  

 
Initial Assessment 

 

18. Are there urgent concerns that 
may necessitate possession 
action? 
May include: obstruction, health 
and safety concerns eg 
dangerous place to stop, 
damage to land, threats or 
violence. 

  

 
Agreement that information collected is correct 

 

 Signature of occupier  Date: 

Page 18



 Signature of lead officer  Date: 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 3 Document 2 

 
Welfare Assessment 

 

Date of Assessment  

Time of Assessment  

Location of Encampment  

Initial Encampment Assessment 
Completed? 

 

Names and Positions of Assessors  
 

 

  Response Comments 
/Follow Up 

1. Location of 
Encampment/Address 

 
 
 

 

 Map or Grid References   

 When was the last 
encampment on this land? (if 
known) 

  

 Were services provided to the 
site? 
If so what services? 
May include: 
Water, Refuse/Skips, 
Toilets 

  

 Were services paid for? 
(only applicable if these are the 
same occupants) 

  

2. Date informed of encampment 
 

  

Page 19



 How was the report made? 
By Who? 

  

 How was access gained by 
assessors? 

 
 
 

 

 Condition of Site 
Compare to condition at time of 
Initial Encampment Assessment 

  

3. Group Origin (if known) 
Romani Gypsies, Roma, Irish 
Travellers etc 

  

 Number of Family Groups 
It may be that the encampment is 
one extended family 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 Number of Adult Occupants Male: 
 
Female: 

 

 Number of Child Occupants 0-5: 
 
6-10: 
 
11-15: 
 
16-17: 

 

4. Number of Caravans Static: 
Tourer Size: 
Motor Homes: 
Other (describe): 

 

 Number of other vehicles Cars: 
Vans: 
Lorries: 
Other: 

 

 Number and Type of Animals 
Please note whether these are 
tethered and any welfare 
concerns 
 

  

5. Reason for encampment? 
 

  

 Expected duration of stay? 
 

  

6. Services provided at 
encampment: 
 

Toilets: 
 
Water: 

 

Page 20



 
Refuse: 
 
Other: 

 
Welfare Issues 

 

7. Are any women pregnant: 
 

Yes/No  

 Name 
 

  

 DOB   

 Due Date   

 Concerns   

 Doctor/Practice   

 Receiving Urgent, Local 
Medical Treatment 

  

 Is the Resident in good health 
generally? 
A health professional may be 
required to give an accurate 
assessment in regards to being 
‘moved on’. 
 

  

 Overall assessment of 
condition. 
Health professionals may need to 
be consulted with regard to 
‘moving on’. 

  

    

 Name 
 

  

 DOB   

 Due Date   

 Concerns   

 Doctor/Practice   

 Receiving Urgent, Local 
Medical Treatment 

  

 Is the resident in good health 
generally? 
A health professional may be 
required to give an accurate 
assessment with regard to being 
‘moved on’. 

  

 Overall assessment of 
condition. 
Health professionals may need to 
be consulted with regard to 
‘moving on’. 

  

Page 21



    

8. Does anyone within the group 
require regular medical 
treatment/examinations? 

Yes/No  

 Name 
 

  

 DOB   

 Are they receiving treatment 
now? 
Please note the resident does not 
have to disclose information on 
their condition unless they 
choose to do so.  However, this 
may impact on the decision 
whether or not to tolerate the 
encampment on a short-term 
basis. 

  

 Is that one of the reasons for 
the encampment? 
Explain if possible 
 
 

  

 Overall assessment of 
condition. 
Health professionals may need to 
be consulted with regard to 
‘moving on’. 
 
 

  

    

 Name 
 

  

 DOB 
 

  

 Are they receiving treatment 
now? 
Please note the resident does not 
have to disclose information on 
their condition unless they 
choose to do so.  However, this 
may impact on the decision 
whether or not to tolerate the 
encampment on a short-term 
basis. 
 

  

 Is that one of the reasons for 
the encampment? 
Explain if possible 
 

  

Page 22



 Overall assessment of 
condition 
Health professionals may need to 
be consulted with regard to 
‘moving on’. 

  

9. Have any of the group received 
or are they currently in receipt 
of urgent medical treatment? 
 
Do any of the group require 
urgent medical treatment 
which has not yet been 
sought? 

Yes/No  

 Name 
 

  

 DOB 
 

  

 Treatment received/required 
Please include length of stay if 
being treated as an ‘in patient’ 
and whether or not the patient is 
still in hospital 

  

 Hospital/surgery   

 Is a doctor or health visitor 
required to visit the 
encampment? 

  

 Ongoing treatment or long 
term care required? 

  

 Overall assessment of 
condition 
Health professionals may need to 
be consulted with regard to 
‘moving on’ 
 

  

    

 Name 
 

  

 DOB 
 

  

 Treatment received/required 
Please include length of stay if 
being treated as an ‘in patient’ 
and whether or not the patient is 
still in hospital 

  

 Hospital/surgery attended 
 

  

 Is a doctor or health visitor 
required to visit the 
encampment? 

  

Page 23



 On going treatment or long 
term care required? 
 

  

 Overall assessment of 
condition. 
Health professionals may need to 
be consulted with regard to 
‘moving on’. 
 

  

10 Are there any disabled or 
elderly persons that are unable 
to move on currently? 
Health professionals may need to 
be consulted. 
 

  

    

11 Number of children attending 
attending local schools? 
 

  

 Number of children within 4 
weeks of examinations? 
 

  

 Would you like the Traveller 
Education Service to visit? 

  

 
 

Other Issues 
 

12. Did occupiers refuse to 
provide information? 

  

 If yes, what reasons were 
provided? 
 
 

  

13 Have there been significant 
changes to the encampment 
since the Initial Encampment 
Visit? (Please explain) 

  

 
 

Agreement that information collected is correct 
 
 

Signature of 
Occupier 

 Date: 

Signature of Lead 
Officer 

 Date: 

 

 

Page 24



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 3 Document 3 

 
 

Negotiated Code of Conduct for Tolerated Stopping  
 

You and your family have been permitted to remain on this land as a tolerated 
but unauthorised Gypsy or Traveller Encampment for a period of …………… 
Until …………….  
This is because………………………………………  
 
By staying on this land you are agreeing to this negotiated Code of Conduct which 
explains the standard of behaviour which is expected of you and your family.  
 
You are expected to treat the land you have occupied and the surrounding 
neighbours with respect. You must also respect the rights and freedom of those who 
also wish or need to use the land.  
  

 You have been permitted to park your caravan and vehicles on a particular 
area of land. You must not camp on any land other than that which you have 
been given permission to remain on.  

 

 Camping on other publicly used land, such as parks, school fields, car parks 
or play areas, may lead to immediate eviction action.  

 

 You must not force entry onto any other part of the land or buildings on the 
land.  

 

 Be careful not to cause any damage to the land itself or property on it 
including fencing or boundary walls, fixtures or fittings. This includes any flood 
defences or defences to prevent trespassing. Particular care should be taken 
not to cause damage to parks, woodlands, school fields, or play areas.  

 

Page 25



 Vehicles should not be driven on footpaths or highways not designed for road 
vehicles. Doing this could put others at risk and is unlawful.  

 

 Vehicles and caravans should also be parked in a way that does not block 
access for other people who want to pass or to public facilities.  

 

 Dumping, tipping rubbish or placing waste materials or trade waste such as 
rubble or tree cuttings on this land may lead to eviction proceedings. Please 
use bins that are provided for domestic waste or dispose of trade waste at the 
local Civic Amenity Site (local tip).  

 

 Burning of commercial or domestic waste is not allowed on this site. Open 
fires will only be permitted where basic fire safety is observed and agreed with 
the local authority / fire service.  

 

 You must not dispose of or deposit any human waste on this site. (You will be 
issued with a portable toilet – include if decided in case conference) 

 

 You will be provided with access to water supply. (include if decided in case 
conference) 

 

 Abuse, harassment or intimidation of any person using this land lawfully will 
not be tolerated.  
 

 The local authority asks that those who are willing and able to pay for 
received services (eg portable toilet, water supply, bins) notify the local 
authority and pay.  Services may be withdrawn if they are being used 
inappropriately. 
 

 You must ensure the welfare of other occupiers and animals, as far as 
reasonably practicable. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



 

 
      
 

Name of the Officer:  Huw Owen 
 
 
Phone no: 01873 735433 
E-mail: huwowen@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal 

Agree changes to the existing Monmouthshire Protocol for the 

Management of Unauthorised Encampments’ June 2009, taking 

account of current Welsh Government guidance. This is to ensure 

that a fair and consistent approach is followed in dealing with 

encampments which complies with legislation to a standard that 

meets the needs of all involved. 

 

Name of Service: Environmental Health 

 

Date Future Generations Evaluation: 5th October 2015 

 

1. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below?  Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you expect, together 

with suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal. 

Well Being Goal  

How does the proposal contribute to this 

goal? (positive and negative) 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

A prosperous Wales 
Efficient use of resources, skilled, 
educated people, generates wealth, 
provides jobs 

Positive. Minimising the need to respond on a 

crisis basis by advance planning.  

Clarifying roles and responsibilities, including 

establishing who will co-ordinate responses and 

who will make the key decisions.  

The revised procedure is based on Welsh 

Government guidance and experience of officers 

who have been involved in dealing with 

unauthorized encampments in recent years. 

Procedure advocated is transparent, streamlined 

and will enable a consistent approach. 

Future Generations Evaluation  
( includes Equalities and Sustainability Impact Assessments)  

P
age 27



Well Being Goal  

How does the proposal contribute to this 

goal? (positive and negative) 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

A resilient Wales 
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems that support resilience and 
can adapt to change (e.g. climate 
change) 

  

A healthier Wales 
People’s physical and mental wellbeing 
is maximized and health impacts are 
understood 

Positive. The determination of whether eviction 

action should be taken should be made after 

consideration of whether the interference with 

Gypsy or Traveller family life and home is justified 

and proportionate. Any particular welfare needs 

experienced by unauthorised campers are material 

in reaching a balanced and proportionate decision. 

The rights of members of the settled community 

are also material if an authority fails to act to curb 

nuisance from an encampment which impacts on 

wellbeing 

Revised Welfare Assessment in accord with 

guidance enables the needs of the occupiers of the 

encampment to be fully considered – education, 

housing, medical needs etc. 

A Wales of cohesive communities 
Communities are attractive, viable, safe 
and well connected 

Positive. Ensuring that the needs, legitimate 

expectations and human rights of all parties – 

Gypsies and Travellers, landowners and the 

settled community – are considered. 

Procedure advocated is transparent, streamlined 

and will enable a consistent approach. 

A globally responsible Wales 
Taking account of impact on global 
well-being when considering local 
social, economic and environmental 
wellbeing 

Positive. Setting an example in ensuring that the a 

critical balance is found in considering and 

protecting the welfare and human rights of Gypsies 

and Travellers while safeguarding the rights of 

residents of Monmouthshire. 

 

A Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language 
Culture, heritage and Welsh language 
are promoted and protected.  People 

Positive. Gypsies and Travellers are indigenous to 

Wales. A clear and transparent policy will support 

their transitory way of life and help all to live 

 

P
age 28



Well Being Goal  

How does the proposal contribute to this 

goal? (positive and negative) 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

are encouraged to do sport, art and 
recreation 

harmoniously together. 

A more equal Wales 
People can fulfil their potential no 
matter what their background or 
circumstances 

Positive. A clear and consistent streamlined procedure helps 

deliver information and support Gypsies and 

Travellers need to exercise their rights. 

 

2. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development? 

Sustainable Development 

Principle  

How does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle? 

What has been done to better to meet this 
principle? 

Balancing 

short term 

need with long 

term and 

planning for 

the future 

The procedure reflects Welsh Government guidance and 

legislation. It helps reasonable and proportionate decisions to be 

taken and minimizes dealing with sites on a crisis basis 

Procedure elements clarified, introduces Single Points of 
Contact concept and welfare assessment strengthened in 
line with guidance. 

Working 

together with 

other 

partners to 

deliver 

objectives  

Decisions taken following case conference. Clarifies the lead officers who will have responsibility to 
ensure that persons representing key agencies, 
communities etc are invited to case conference. 

Involving 

those with an 

interest and 

seeking their 

views 

Case conference critical part of decision making process Amended procedure helps clarify the steps to be taken. 

P
age 29



Sustainable Development 

Principle  

How does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle? 

What has been done to better to meet this 
principle? 

Putting 

resources into 

preventing 

problems 

occurring or 

getting worse 

An effective procedure is crucial to enable decisions to be 

made in a clear, consistent way, having full regard to 

legislation to minimize crisis management which tends to be 

more costly.  

Clear process for making decisions with clarification of 
roles and responsibilities to minimize duplication of effort. 

Positively 

impacting on 

people, 

economy and 

environment 

and trying to benefit all three 

Unathorised encampments can impact significantly on 

people,economy and environment. A clear decision making 

process enables full assessment of all factors and early 

engagement with all stakeholders. 

Clarity of procedure enables integration of stakeholders to 
be maximized. 

 

P
age 30



3. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain the impact, the 

evidence you have used and any action you are taking below.  

Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Age Revised Welfare Assessment in accord with 
guidance enables the needs of the 
occupiers of the encampment to be fully 
considered 

  

Disability Revised Welfare Assessment in accord with 
guidance enables the needs of the 
occupiers of the encampment to be fully 
considered 

  

Gender 

reassignment 

   

Marriage or civil 

partnership 

   

Race A clear and transparent procedure will help 
support the Gypsy/Traveller  transitory way 
of life and help a reasonable and 
proportionate response to unauthorized 
encampments 

  

Religion or Belief    

Sex    

Sexual Orientation    

 

Welsh Language 

Bilingual ‘code of conduct for tolerated stopping 
form’ to be provided in Welsh on request. 

  

 

P
age 31



4. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on important responsibilities of Corporate Parenting and 
safeguarding.  Are your proposals going to affect either of these responsibilities?  For more information please see the guidance 
http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Safeguarding%20Guidance.docx  and for more on Monmouthshire’s Corporate 
Parenting Strategy see http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx 

 

 Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on safeguarding and 
corporate parenting 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on safeguarding 
and corporate parenting 

What will you do/ have you done 
to mitigate any negative impacts 
or better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Safeguarding  Conducting a robust welfare assessment 
and case conference will help the 
council ensure they have fully 
considered the needs of children and 
vulnerable persons in an encampment  
and safeguard against potential harm 

 Clarity of procedure enables 
integration of stakeholders such as 
Social Services, Education, Housing 
etc to be maximized. 

Corporate Parenting     

 
5. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal? 
 
Cabinet Report 3rd June 2009 ‘Policy for Gypsy and Traveller Sites and Protocol For Managing Unauthorised Encampments’ 
 
Welsh Government ‘Guidance on Managing Unauthorised Camping 2013’ 
 
 

 

P
age 32

http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Safeguarding%20Guidance.docx
http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx


6. SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have 
they informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future? 

 

Cabinet report dated 3rd June 2009 recommended the adoption of a policy statement on managing Gypsy and Traveller sites in 

Monmouthshire; and the adoption of a  protocol for the management of unauthorised encampments. The report was endorsed and is 

provided as a background paper. 

Welsh Government has updated its advice to local authorities, in its document ‘Guidance on Managing Unauthorised Camping 2013’ which 

is aimed at addressing the specific issues around unauthorised encampments of Gypsies and Travellers.  

The proposed changes to the adopted protocol and specifically the ‘unauthorised camping procedure’ and the assessment forms used, 

take account of this Welsh Government guidance and the experiences of officers in dealing with recent encampments, to ensure that it is fit 

for purpose and properly balances the issues. The key principles and values of the 2009 protocol remain. 

 

 

7. Actions. As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, if 
applicable.  

 

What are you going to do  When are you going to do it?  Who is responsible  Progress  

If approved, share revised protocol 

with relevant Officers. 

November 2015 Huw Owen  

    

    

 

8. Monitoring: The impacts of this proposal will need to be monitored and reviewed. Please specify the date at which you will 

evaluate the impact, and where you will report the results of the review.  

 

The impacts of this proposal will be evaluated on:  January 2017. Update to Head of Community Protection 

 

P
age 33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
AGENDA ITEM 4(i) 

 
SUBJECT: POLICY FOR GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITES & PROTOCOL FOR MANAGING UNAUTHORISED ENCAMPMENTS 
    
MEETING: Cabinet 
DATE: 3 June 2009 
DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: All 
 

 
1. PURPOSE: 
 To consider adopting a policy for Gypsy and Traveller sites in Monmouthshire and a Protocol for managing unauthorised encampments. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
2.1 That Cabinet adopts the Policy Statement on managing Gypsy and Traveller sites in Monmouthshire - attached as Appendix 1. 
2.2 That Cabinet adopts the Monmouthshire Protocol for the management of unauthorised encampments – attached as Appendix 2. 
 
3. KEY ISSUES: 

3.1 Although Monmouthshire does not have a significant issue with Gypsy and Traveller sites, it is important to prepare for such occurrences 
and act fairly and consistently.  Any action must be proportionate to the specific situation. 

3.2 The Council would wish to ensure, when dealing with Gypsy and Traveller sites, that – 

 Decision making is clear, consistent and appropriate in the circumstances 

 A balance is struck between the rights and responsibilities of both the settled community and Gypsies and Travellers. 

 Decisions taken will reduce exposure to legal challenge. 

 Communication to the Gypsies and Travellers, local residents, One Stop Shops, Members and media is provided regularly and 
consistently. 

3.3 As the Local Planning Authority we need to identify suitable locations for Gypsies and Travellers sites in our development planning process.  
Although beyond the scope of this policy and protocol for managing sites, Members will wish to note there is a wider debate about future site 
provisions.  The Development Plans team within RER are currently considering the Gypsy and Traveller site issue on a regional as well as 
local basis. 

P
age 35



 
4. REASONS: 
 
4.1 The Council recognises there will be times when it needs to manage Gypsy and Traveller sites in a variety of settings.  The Policy document 

in Appendix 1 provides Officers, Members, residents and other interested groups with a statement of the Authority’s approach to managing 
Gypsy and Travellers sites  in Monmouthshire. 

4.2 Although Welsh Assembly Government has produced useful guidance on managing unauthorised camping, (in February 2005), their 
expectation is that each Local Authority shall have a strategy for dealing with such encampments.  As a responsible Authority we would wish 
to cater for this community group in the same way as any other settled community in the County.  As well as covering options for removal of 
illegal encampments, the Protocol therefore covers the issues of assessing their needs, for example for social care, child education and 
waste provision. 

 
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 
 
5.1 There is no specific budget for dealing with Gypsy and Traveller sites, with any costs generally being borne by the relevant service.  For 

example Countryside Services have previously paid for refuse and other cleansing services in the parks they manage. 
 
6. CONSULTEES: 
 

Cabinet  
Select Committee Chairs 

 Corporate Management Team 
 

Results of Consultation 
No adverse comments received 

 
7. BACKGROUND PAPERS: 
 
 ‘Guidance on Managing Unauthorised Camping’, WAG; February 2005 
 
8. AUTHOR: 
 

David H. Jones, Head of Community & Environmental Protection 
 
9. CONTACT DETAILS:  
 

E-mail:   davidhjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk  
Telephone:   01633 64 4101 

P
age 36



                                                                                                                   Appendix 1 
 

MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

POLICY STATEMENT ON MANAGING GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITES 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Monmouthshire County Council is committed to promoting and protecting the rights of all those who live and work in the County, together 

with visitors, irrespective of background or circumstance.  The Council accepts that all members of the community have the right to 
protection under the law; to be protected from nuisance, harassment and discrimination; and to be able to access a range of fully inclusive 
services that meet their needs.  Similarly members of the community in Monmouthshire, whether permanent or temporary, have a 
responsibility not to interfere with the rights of others.  Equal standards of behaviour are expected by all.  Those rights and responsibilities 
apply equally to Gypsies and Travellers as to members of the settled community in Monmouthshire. 

 
1.2 The decision to adopt a travelling lifestyle, where housing need is met through living within a vehicle, either on a long or short-term basis, is 

made by many people for a wide variety of reasons.  It is imperative that Gypsies and Travellers are not denied the right to mainstream 
services that the Council provides, simply by virtue of their lifestyle. 

 
1.3 The Council recognises the importance of managing Gypsy and Traveller sites appropriately and with sensitivity.  Officers of the Council will 

adhere to the guidelines set out in the document entitled 'Monmouthshire Protocol for the Management of Unauthorised Encampments', 
when such situations arise in the County. 

 
1.4 Gypsies and Travellers will also be catered for within our strategy documents.  For example, they will be covered by:- 
 

(1) People can expect that services they need will be delivered safely and sensitively and will offer protection when it is needed.  Health, 
Social Care & Well Being Strategy 2008 - 11.  

 
(2) Every child and young person has access to a comprehensive range of education, training and learning opportunities including the 

acquisition of essential personal and social skills.  Children & Young People Plan 2008 - 11. 
 
(3) Anti-social behaviour - combating actions likely to cause harassment, alarm or distress to the community.  Community Safety 

Partnership Action Plan 2009 - 12. 
 

2. POLICY STATEMENT 
 
2.1 The Council recognises the importance of celebrating the diversity of those who live in Monmouthshire and recognises that this is only 

possible if all communities feel safe and valued.  The Council has a four-fold duty in relation to Gypsies and Travellers: 
 

 To balance the rights and needs of the settled community with those of Gypsies and Travellers. 

P
age 37



 
 To eliminate unlawful racial discrimination 

 
 Promote equality of opportunity and treatment. 

 
 Promote good relations between people of different racial groups. 

 
2.2 The Council will adhere to the principles of community cohesion and support a culture where there is respect for others and a tolerance of 

racial and cultural difference. 
 
2.3 The Council supports a multi-agency, co-ordinated approach to Gypsies and Travellers.  It will aim to: 
 

 Work corporately, across groups and other agencies to deliver real outcomes for the Gypsy and Traveller community in Monmouthshire. 
 
 Promote good practice across the range of agencies. 
 
 Recognise that there may be additional issues faced by Gypsies and Travellers because of their social group, ethnic background, age or 

disability. 
 
 Where appropriate consult and incorporate the views of Gypsies and Travellers in the development of policies, procedures and services. 
 
 Assess the need for Gypsy and Traveller accommodation within the County and develop a strategy to address any identified need. 
 
 Use firm but fair enforcement powers against unauthorised sites and anti-social behaviour. 

 
3. LAND USE 
 
3.1 The Council acknowledges that there are more Gypsy and Traveller caravans in circulation than there are authorised places for them to 

stop.  Having regard to the limited number of places available, the Council recognises that there will be unauthorised encampments from 
time to time.  Furthermore there is an increasing expectation by the Courts and other agencies that alternative site provision should be 
available when eviction from unauthorised places is considered.  Currently there is no provision for sites within Monmouthshire.  The Council 
will ensure that it seeks advice from a number of sources in developing future provision and maximise the funding available where 
appropriate. 

 
3.2 Monmouthshire experiences occasional unauthorised encampments, which can cause disruption and conflict locally, and can be expensive 

and time consuming to clear.  Unauthorised camping can be a problem that requires a range of solutions, which may include swift and 
effective enforcement.  As per Section 1.3 above the Authority has a protocol for managing such sites. 

 

P
age 38



3.3 Another situation may arise where land is purchased privately by or on behalf of Gypsies and Travellers, with a view of providing a site with 
associated facilities.  Planning permission may or may not be sought. Gypsies and Travellers are on the same footing in planning law as 
other citizens.  In considering planning applications and the expediency of taking enforcement action the local planning authority shall have 
regard to its current development plan, policies and other material considerations, including relevant guidance from the Welsh Assembly 
Government.  

 
4. COMMUNICATION 
 
4.1 The policy will be available for distribution in different formats  -  electronically on the Council website and via hard copy for Gypsies and 

Travellers, settled community, businesses, etc. 
 
4.2 'Frequently asked questions' will be put on the website, again available in hard copy format, at One Stop Shops, etc. 
 
4.3 A briefing note will be available for distribution to local residents, local Members, Community Councils etc., when unauthorised 

encampments occur. 
 
4.4 Monmouthshire County Council will liaise with relevant agencies when issuing press releases or responding to media enquiries. 
 
5. MONITORING AND EVALUATION 
 
5.1 This policy will be monitored annually to evaluate its continued relevance and effectiveness by the Equalities & Access Officer. 
 
6. AUTHOR 
 
 David H Jones - Head of Community and Environmental Protection 
 davidhjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 01633 644101 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 39

mailto:davidhjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 
                                                                                                               Appendix 2 

 
 

MONMOUTHSHIRE PROTOCOL FOR THE MANAGEMENT OF 
UNAUTHORISED ENCAMPMENTS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Management Guidance for use by Monmouthshire County Council, working in liaison with the 
Monmouthshire Local Policing Unit of Gwent Police   

 
 
 
 
 

JUNE 2009 
 
 

 

P
age 40



 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Aim  
 

The aim of this Protocol is to address the need for an effective, inter-agency approach to the management of unauthorised encampments in 
Monmouthshire. 

 
1.2 Scope 
 

The scope of the Protocol extends to how the Council works with Gwent Police where these situations arise, recognising other Public bodies 
such as the Local Health Board and the Environment Agency may also need to be involved, dependant on local circumstances. 

 
1.3 Definitions  
 

There are three main Gypsy and Traveller groupings travelling or ‘residing’ in England and Wales.  These are traditional British (Romany) 
Gypsies, traditional Irish Travellers and New Travellers.  The first two groupings are accepted as ethnic minorities for the purpose of race 
relations legislation.  All of these groups have different economic, social, cultural and lifestyles characteristics.  For the purpose of this 
document, groups and individuals belonging to any of these groups will be referred to as ‘Gypsies and Travellers’.  
 
Unauthorised encampments refers to encampments of caravans and/or other vehicles on land without the landowner or occupier's consent 
and constituting trespass. 

 
1.4 Local Situation 
 

Although unauthorised encampments are infrequent in Monmouthshire, it is important the Council is prepared for such eventualities and acts 
consistently. 

 
Gypsies and Travellers have previously occupied, for example, M.C.C.'s Countryside sites in Clydach South, (various occasions) and Castle 
Meadows, Abergavenny (once to date, in July, 2008).  They have also pitched on a site in Usk and on lay-by's on the A465 trunk road 
between Abergavenny and Hereford.  Although land occupied is typically owned by the Council, it could belong to National Assembly Wales 
(trunk roads), Forestry Commission or others. 

 
2. POLICY CONTEXT  
 
2.1 The WAG Guidance on Managing Unauthorised Camping (NAFWC 04/2005) came into effect in February 2005. 
 

This Guidance’s overall objective is to assist local authorities, Police and others to tackle unauthorised camping to minimise the disruption it 
can cause. In doing this, it aims: 
 
• To help strike an appropriate balance between the needs and legitimate expectations of members of the settled community, local 

businesses and other landowners, and Gypsy-Travellers. 
 

P
age 41



• To set out recommended courses of action which all local authorities and Police forces should follow to provide an effective response to 
unauthorised camping in their areas. 

 
• To encourage a more consistent approach, building on current good practice and sharing experience. 
 
• To show how to engage the settled and Gypsy-Traveller communities in order to achieve 'buy in' to the strategy, which is vital to ensure 

its effective delivery. 
 
The Guidance is primarily aimed at local authorities and Police who share responsibility for managing unauthorised camping, but will also be 
relevant to all bodies likely to be involved in partnership approaches.  While the Guidance is advisory, local authorities and Police are 
strongly advised to bear it in mind when devising and implementing their approaches and are reminded that the courts may refer to it as a 
material consideration in eviction or other enforcement decisions. 
 
In the interests of avoiding repetition the guidance is not included within this Protocol.  Monmouthshire County Council and Gwent Police 
have agreed to adopt the recommendations contained within the guidance as a model of good practice.  Officers will be referring to this 
guidance in the course of their work in relation to the management of unauthorised encampments. 

 
2.2 The Race Relations Act 1976 makes it unlawful to treat someone less favourably on the grounds of colour, race, nationality, ethnic or 

national origins.  Both Romany Gypsies and Irish Travellers are recognised in law as racial groups.  The Race Relations Amendment Act 
2000 places a general duty on public bodies to promote racial harmony between different racial groups.  The Human Rights Act 1998 also 
protects Travellers from unlawful discrimination. 

 
2.3 Section 255 of the Housing Act (2005) requires local authorities to: 
 

•  Include Gypsy and Traveller accommodation needs within the Local Housing Assessment process 
 

•  Consult on new planning guidance so that local authorities will have to ascertain local need for Gypsy and Traveller sites and identify 
suitable locations accordingly 

 
•  Ensure accurate information on the levels of need for sites and other types of provision will in future be provided via Local Housing Needs 

Assessment, rather than via the Gypsy and Traveller Caravan Count 
 

•  Recommend that the use of Anti-Social Behaviour Orders (ASBOs) be extended to Gypsies and Travellers where anti-social behaviour 
accompanies an encampment. 

 
3. THE ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PUBLIC SECTOR IN DEALING WITH UNAUTHORISED CAMPING 
 
3.1 The Council 
 
3.1.1 Local authorities have responsibilities under the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 to consider unauthorised camping and to take 

appropriate action.  In addition the Council has responsibilities for the welfare and education needs of the people of Monmouthshire.  These 
include Gypsies and Travellers living in or visiting Monmouthshire.  

P
age 42



 
Social, Health and Education Services have the same responsibilities for Gypsies and Travellers as they have for other groups and 
individuals within the community and will normally be involved whenever an unauthorised encampment occurs.  Social and/or Education 
Services will be invited to attend any Case Conferences relating to unauthorised Gypsy and Traveller encampments should the need arise. 

 
3.1.2 Powers Available to Local Authorities 
 

The Government believes that local authorities should always follow a route that requires a court order.  Local authorities and public bodies 
must have regard to considerations of common humanity or other statutory duties and must ensure that the human rights of unauthorised 
campers and the neighbouring community are safeguarded.  Local authorities have a range of powers to tackle unauthorised encampments: 

 
a) A landowner (including a local authority) can obtain a possession order in the civil courts requiring the removal of trespassers from property, 

including land.  Under the Civil Procedures Rules Part 55 the claim must be issued in the County Court in whose jurisdiction the property or 
land is situated.  Exceptionally the claim may be issued in the High Court if there is substantial risk of public disturbance or of serious harm 
to persons or property which properly require immediate determination. 

 
b) The Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 (CJPOA) gives local authorities in England and Wales powers to make directions to leave 

land being used by itinerant  groups (s77).  It is an offence to fail to comply with such a direction. In proceedings for an offence under this 
section, it is a defence for the accused to show that his failure to leave or to remove the vehicle or other property as soon as practicable, or 
his re-entry with a vehicle, was due to illness, mechanical breakdown or other immediate emergency.  If the direction to leave is not complied 
with, the local authority can apply to magistrates' court for an order requiring the removal of vehicles and any occupants from the land (s78). 

 
c) Local highways authorities have powers to evict unauthorised campers from highway land in certain circumstances under the Highways 

Acts. Section 143 of the Highways Act 1980 requires unauthorised campers to be given 28 days notice to leave. 
 
d) Under Section 33 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, it is prohibited to deposit, treat, keep or dispose of controlled waste on any land, 

unless an appropriate licence is in force.  Officers of the Environment Agency or the local authority may stop (with Police support) any 
vehicle believed to be carrying “controlled waste”.  Drivers of vehicles used without relevant documentation may be subject to being reported 
to the Court and their vehicle seized. 

 
e) Where Gypsies and Travellers (or anyone else) buy land and develop it as a caravan site without planning consent, any enforcement must 

be through the planning system.  The powers described above against trespass cannot be used.  A breach of planning control is not in itself 
an offence; enforcement is a matter for the discretion of the local planning authority.  Decisions to enforce must be made on planning 
grounds.  Some key factors may include whether the breach of control unacceptably affects public amenity, highway safety, public 
landscape, or the existing use of land or buildings meriting protection in the public interest.  The action taken should be proportionate to the 
breach. 

 
f) Other - there are a range of other powers available to Monmouthshire County Council.  For example, the Clean Neighbourhoods and 

Environment Act 2005 provides local authorities with powers to keep areas clean and safe. 
 
 The Anti Social Behaviour Act 2003 could also be used. 
 
 
3.2 The Police 

P
age 43



 
3.2.1 Powers are available to the Police under the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 ss61-62.  Gwent Police work closely with the 

County Council and are supportive of the approach involving discussion, dialogue and negotiation with Gypsy and Traveller groups.  Police 
representation will be present at Case Conferences called to discuss an unauthorised encampment. 

 
3.2.2 Powers Available to the Police 
 

Powers are available to the Police under the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994. Under s61 of the CJPOA, the Police have 
discretionary powers to direct trespassers to leave land.  The senior Police Officer present can direct trespassers to leave if reasonable 
steps have been taken by or on behalf of the landowner/ occupier to ask them to leave and there are two or more people intending to reside 
on the land.  Any one of three further conditions must be met: 

 
•  if any of those persons has caused damage to the land or to property on the land; or 
 
• used threatening, abusive or insulting words or behaviour towards the occupier, a member of his family or an employee or agent of his; or 
 
•  those persons have between them six or more vehicles on the land. 
 
Section 61 cannot be used on land on the highway (with limited specific exclusions listed by s61 (9)(b)).  It is an offence to fail to leave the 
land as soon as reasonably practicable or to enter the land again as a trespasser within three months of the date the direction was given. 
 
The current guidance from the Association of Chief Police Officers (ACPO) refers to some of the circumstances in which it might be 
appropriate to use s61 against an encampment. 

 
• The statutory conditions must be met. In other words, the unauthorised campers must clearly have failed to respond to requests from or 

on behalf of the legal occupier of the land to leave before the Police can act.  (Some Police forces have streamlined this process by 
drawing up standard documents which, when signed by the owner/occupier of the land, give the Police authority to act as their agents in 
dealing with the encampment.  This will be a future consideration for Gwent Police) 

 
• The fact that a landowner initially allows an encampment to remain does not preclude subsequent Police action so long as it is clear that 

reasonable steps have since been taken by the landowner/occupier to get the unauthorised campers to move, and that they have failed 
to do so. 

 
• The fact that a local authority has started to make welfare enquiries cannot be taken as an indication that the encampment is being 

allowed to remain since this is an essential precondition for eviction action. 
 
•  The decision to use s61 is an operational one. Its early use should always be considered where it is likely to be a proportionate response 

and especially where there is evidence of: 
 

• unacceptable behaviour by unauthorised campers at the encampment, including individual criminal activity, which cannot be 
controlled by means other than eviction; 

 
•  significant disruption to the life of the surrounding community; 

 
•  serious breaches of the peace or disorder caused by the encampment. 

P
age 44



 
•  Where triggers such as the above are experienced, good practice suggests that Police should be prepared to act as long as the statutory 

conditions are met.  Police forces/commands should not adopt blanket policies or presumptions either for or against the use of s61. 
 

The decision whether or not to issue a direction to leave is an operational one for the Police alone to take in the light of all of the 
circumstances of the particular case but within the Protocol framework.  In making their decision the senior Officer at the scene may wish to 
take account of the personal circumstances of the trespassers.  For example, the presence of elderly persons, invalids, pregnant women, 
children and other persons whose well-being may be jeopardised by a precipitate move.  While Police Officers do not have to undertake 
welfare enquiries as such, they must be aware of humanitarian considerations in reaching their decisions and must ensure that all decisions 
are proportionate.  A decision may be taken to explicitly exclude individuals or families with serious welfare needs from a s61 direction to 
leave.  CJPOA Section 62A to 62E provides the Police with a power to direct trespassers to leave land and to remove any vehicles and other 
property from the land, where there is a suitable pitch available on a caravan site elsewhere in the local authority area.  Where a direction 
has been given to a person, it is an offence for that person to enter any land in the local authority as a trespasser within three months of the 
direction being given. 

 
3.3 Powers Available to Other Landowners 
 

Private landowners may obtain a possession order through the civil courts requiring the removal of trespassers from their land, using Civil 
Procedures Rules Part 55 in the County Court.  Private landowners have no welfare responsibilities towards Gypsies and Travellers and 
would not be expected to take unauthorised campers' needs into account when deciding to evict. 

 
Some private landowners seek to avoid the expense and costs of going to court by using common law powers to recover land from 
trespassers using 'reasonable force' as necessary.  Such action is lawful and some firms of bailiffs have carried out many evictions 
effectively and without trouble.  Good practice guidelines for common law evictions would seek to ensure that no more than necessary 
'reasonable force' is used. In addition: 

 
•  Police should always be notified of an eviction and called in to stand by to prevent a breach of the peace. 
 
•  If Police advise that it is inappropriate to carry out an eviction, it should always be delayed until an agreed time. 
 
There is a role for local authorities and Police in managing unauthorised camping on private land:  

 
•  As a minimum, local authorities should inform private landowners about their rights to recover land from trespassers, through the courts 

or using common law powers.  Authorities should not offer legal advice to landowners but rather refer them to Citizens' Advice Bureaux or 
solicitors.  Authorities should remind landowners about the importance of using reputable bailiffs and only 'reasonable force'. 

 
•  Within the overall strategy for managing unauthorised camping, the local authority might consider acting more directly against 

encampments when requested by a private landowner, particularly if the Police are not prepared to use s61 to evict the encampment. 
 
•  Police should take action if any criminal offences are perpetrated during eviction action by bailiffs or private firms. 

 
4. GUIDELINES FOR MANAGING UNAUTHORISED ENCAMPMENTS 
 
4.1 First Response 

P
age 45



 
The party receiving initial notification of an unauthorised encampment should take the initiative in advising the likely lead authority.  Where 
there is an immediate risk of a large illegal encampment on an open space, there may well be an emergency response from the Police which 
is likely to involve blocking access points. 

 
4.2 The Lead Authority 
 

•  The Council will act as lead authority in respect of unauthorised camping on the highway, on land owned by the Council, or on common 
land. 

 
•  The Police will lead when the decision has been taken to enact powers under Section 61-62E of CJPOA. 
 
•  In some cases the lead authority will not be easily identified, for example where an encampment is on both public and private land.  In 

such cases the decision as to who will be lead authority should be based on the extent to which the encampment is on the highway or 
private land.  If the majority of the land occupied is Council owned or Highways, the Council will lead; if the majority is private land Gwent 
Police will usually take the lead. 

 
4.3 Action Following Notification of an Unauthorised Encampment Site Visit 
 

When notification of an unauthorised encampment is received, an Officer representing the lead authority will visit the site at the first 
opportunity (normally within 24 hours) to consider the acceptability of the encampment.  The Officer may choose to make a joint visit with a 
Police Officer.  The lead authority will give attention to any complaints received or other issues that may arise from the encampment and 
location. 

 
A Needs Assessment will be undertaken during the site visit.  This will be recorded as outlined in Appendix 3.  Thereafter the authorities 
concerned will consult and decide upon the most appropriate course of action, normally by means of convening a Case Conference.   
 
Enquiries will commence in advance of the Case Conference to establish if vacancies exist at nearby official sites, (e.g. Blaenau Gwent and 
Torfaen).  If vacancies do exist at any of these sites then the group will be directed to relocate to the appropriate location. 

 
4.4 The Case Conference 
 

Where a Case Conference is convened, representatives from the Council, Police, Education and Health Services will be consulted as 
necessary.   Members or representatives of both the settled and travelling communities may be invited to attend at the lead authority’s 
discretion.  Social Services, Education and other agencies may be asked to attend where this is considered appropriate. 

 
The Case Conference will consider the encampment in relation to its location, any health, welfare and educational needs, criminal or anti-
social behaviour, environmental impact and human rights considerations.  Following careful consideration of all these factors, 
recommendations around how to proceed will be decided.  Any decision will need to be notified to Chief Officers of Monmouthshire (Chief 
Executive or Corporate Director) and Gwent Police. 

 
A summary of the purpose of the Case Conference, and how its conducted, is provided in Appendix 1. 

P
age 46



 
4.5 Action Following a Case Conference 
 

Following the case conference, if the recommendation is taken to evict an unauthorised encampment the aim should be to act quickly and 
efficiently; to use powers most appropriate to the circumstances and to reduce scope for challenge through the courts by ensuring that 
policies and procedures are properly followed. 

 
4.6 Management of an Unauthorised Encampment 
 

Whether or not a decision is made to tolerate the encampment for up to 28 days, the local authority will need to decide whether it is 
necessary or appropriate to offer or to provide basic facilities.  Such facilities may include toilets, waste disposal and where economical, 
running water. 

 
The local authority will ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, that any waste is removed both during the encampment and immediately 
upon its vacation, except when an encampment is on private land, when clearance costs are the responsibility of the landowner.   

 
Where costs are incurred, for example for the provision of toilet facilities and refuse collection, the Authority will seek payment from the 
Gypsies and Travellers where practicable. 

 
4.7 Consideration of Existing Unauthorised Encampments 
 

If it is agreed to allow an unauthorised encampment to remain, or if an encampment has been in place for some time, the lead authority will 
keep the encampment under review to ensure broad compliance with standards set for acceptably of continuation.  In some cases it may be 
necessary to call a further case conference, particularly if there is an escalation in the scale or impact of unauthorised camping (or significant 
change in the level of anti-social activity in the area).  In such instances a case conference will follow the same format and 
 
principles set out in this Protocol for dealing with newly established encampments. 

 
Any decisions taken regarding the unauthorised encampment should be communicated to all parties concerned. 

 
4.8 Media Contact 
 

Contact with the media is the responsibility of the lead authority, to which all enquiries should be referred.  Should a press release be 
necessary, and where time allows it, Monmouthshire County Council and Gwent Police should be asked for their comments.  Copies of 
press releases should be distributed to all relevant parties prior to its release.  A press release should refer to the Protocol process jointly 
undertaken by the agencies and give the context under which any decision has been reached. 
 

 
4.9 Unacceptable Encampment Locations 
 

Unauthorised encampments are almost always, by definition, unlawful. However, while there are insufficient authorised sites, it is recognised 
that some unauthorised camping will continue.  There are locations, however, where an encampment will not be acceptable under any 

P
age 47



circumstances.  Each encampment location must be considered on its own merits against criteria such as health and safety considerations 
for the unauthorised campers, traffic hazard, public health risks, serious environmental damage, genuine nuisance to neighbours and 
proximity to other sensitive land-uses.  Set out below is a list of the types of site where unauthorised camping would not normally be 
acceptable: 
 
1. A site of special scientific interest (S.S.S.I.). 
 
2. A school car park or playing field. 
 
3. A verge of a busy road where an encampment would pose a danger to both campers and road users. 
 
4. Locations where there is significant health and safety risk to campers. 
 
5. A site where pollution from vehicles or dumping could damage water or water courses. 

 
Government guidance suggests that wherever possible, local authorities and/or Police should seek to prevent Gypsies and Travellers from 
establishing an encampment in an unacceptable location.  Where this proves impossible, they should attempt to encourage the unauthorised 
campers to move to an authorised site where available.  Identification of possible alternative sites could assist local authorities and the Police 
in the management of unauthorised encampments in circumstances where there are no available pitches on authorised sites.  If the 
unauthorised campers refuse to move from an unacceptable location, eviction processes (including appropriate welfare enquiries) should be 
commenced. 

 
4.10 Procedure Summary 
 

A summary of the general procedure for managing unauthorised encampments is provided in Appendix 2. 
 

5. ACTION TO BE TAKEN FOLLOWING THE DEPARTURE OF THE ILLEGAL ENCAMPMENT. 
 
5.1 A meeting will be convened to review the decisions and the effectiveness of the management process.  This will be treated by all Officers 

concerned as an opportunity to learn and improve practice and not apportioning fault in relation to any difficulties that occurred during time 
that the illegal encampment was present.  Officers will be reminded at the outset of the meeting that the purpose of this Protocol is to 
balance the need to protect property from trespass and consider the human rights and the ongoing welfare of Gypsies and Travellers in our 
area. 

 
5.2 Consideration should be given to the contents of any press statement or response to press enquiries.  The principle purpose of any 

statement should be to reduce any community concerns, protect social cohesion and demonstrate fairness in how the Council has carried 
out its responsibilities.  Officers will exercise their discretion as to whether any press releases might serve a positive purpose.  

 
5.3 The appropriate teams for example Environmental Health or Countryside will inspect the conditions at the vacated site and commission 

arrangements for the removal of any waste left over from the encampment.  If any dangerous or harmful products be discovered at the site 
location arrangements should be made for their removal in accordance with standard public protection procedures.  If any graffiti is within 

P
age 48



found within the immediate locality this should be removed.  Racist graffiti should be removed as a priority in accordance with standard 
procedures. 

 
6. REPORT AUTHOR 
 
 David H Jones, Head of Community & Environmental Protection 
 davidhjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 01633 644101 
 

Protocol incorporates comments made through consultation with:  
 
 Corporate Management Team 
 Strategic Development Group of Community Safety Partnership 
 Environmental Health & Planning, Monmouthshire CC 
 Equalities & Access Officer, Monmouthshire CC 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 1 
 
Case Conference, based on the Needs Assessment  

P
age 49

mailto:davidhjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 
When an unauthorised encampment occurs, the lead Authority needs to establish who is living there, the likely period of occupation, and its impact 
on the local community.  The Needs Assessment is intended to provide sufficient background information to enable balanced and informed 
decisions to be made concerning its tolerance or otherwise.  The checklist should be completed by the lead authority and copies distributed 
thereafter. 
 
Those taking part in the case conference should be reminded that the Race Relations Act 1976 makes it an offence to discriminate against 
someone because of race, colour, nationality or citizenship, or ethnic or national background.  Furthermore, the Race Relations Amendment Act of 
2000 also places a duty on public bodies to promote good relations between people of different ethnic groups. 
 
As Gypsies have been recognised as an ethnic group since 1989 and Irish Travellers since 2000 both groups are protected under the Race 
Relations legislation.  Those participating in a case conference should be mindful of the legislation and at all times use language and behaviour that 
is appropriate and respectful. 
 
Data Protection Act 1998 
 
The Data Protection Act regulates the holding and processing of personal data, that is information relating to living individuals, which is held either 
on computer or in manual form.  The Act gives enforceable rights to individuals (data subjects) and places obligations on those legal persons (data 
controllers) who control the manner and the purpose of the processing of personal data.  It will be the responsibility of the signatories to this 
Protocol to ensure that information supplied to them under this Protocol will be used solely for the purpose for which it was obtained.  They should 
also ensure that such information is not disclosed to unauthorised personnel and keep all relevant data confidential and comply with the Data 
Protection Act and all other relevant legislation and guidance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 50



 
APPENDIX 2 

UNAUTHORISED CAMPING PROCEDURE 
 
General Procedure 
 
Step 1 

 
The Lead Officer is the Officer with responsibility for overseeing this procedure.  For Monmouthshire County Council it will be the 
Head of Community & Environmental Protection.  Upon notification of an unauthorised encampment, an initial site visit will be carried 
out by an Environmental Health Officer (E.H.O.) and the Needs Assessment will be completed normally within 24 hours notice of the 
arrival of the encampment.   
 
In addition the E.H.O., in liaison with Countryside or Estates, will complete an assessment to ascertain whether the land is a suitable 
location for the Gypsy/Travellers.  Gwent Police will liaise with the E.H.O. to share information when they receive it.  
 
A brief statement will be drafted by Environmental Health, will be given to the local One Stop Shop agreed by the Head of 
Community & Environmental Protection, so that all complaints can be handled locally.  The team must ensure that all complaints are 
given to the One Stop Shop Team so that they can be directed to the appropriate department.  This will be updated when the issues 
progress. 
 
The Assistant Chief Executive will co-ordinate and answer the enquiries from Members.  The Corporate Director R.E.R. or Chief 
Executive will undertake this role in the absence of the Assistant Chief Executive.  

 
Step 2 

 
Officers in Estates will determine if the site is on local authority land. 

 
Step 3 

 
The E.H.O. will check if there are any available pitches/spaces at authorised sites at neighbouring authorities for example Torfaen 
and Blaenau Gwent.    

 
Step 4 

 
Where it is determined that the site is on local authority owned land, a decision will be taken as to if and when proceedings should be 
implemented.  There may be occasions when occupation can be tolerated for a short period of time and will depend on the 
circumstances of each particular case.  Certain sites will be deemed  unacceptable locations where any trespass will not be 
tolerated, (as provided in 4.9 of Protocol). 

 
Step 5 

 
The Corporate Director, R.E.R., in consultation with Head of Community & Environmental Protection and Head of Legal Services, 
shall decide whether possession proceedings shall be taken and refer to Legal Services to issue proceedings or to tolerate the 
trespass in accordance with the following procedure. 

 
Toleration/Eviction Procedure 
 
Step 1 

 
An E.H.O. submits the Needs Assessment.  An E.H.O. will carry out site visits in order to monitor conditions and circumstances at 
the site. 
 
The following matters will be monitored: 

P
age 51



 Confirmation of persons/vehicles 
 Public health issues. 
 Welfare/health needs of travellers, for example advanced pregnancy, ill health, educational needs.  This would be done by 

referring it to a health visitor and/or education/social services. 
 Compliance with agreed departure date. 
 
Encampments will be provided with/arrangements will be made for the provision of the following essential services as soon as 
practicable. 
 
 Domestic refuse collection. 
 Toilet facilities (Portaloos) 
 
The Lead Authority will seek payment for the provision of the above services, from the Gypsy/Travellers, where practicable.   

 
 
Step 2 

 
The Case Conference Group will consider the Needs Assessment and Education/Social Services input (if applicable) and decide 
recommended action regarding the site.  The Case Conference Group will consist of Gwent Police, Environmental Health, 
Countryside or Estates, Solicitor from Legal Services, and (if relevant) officers from Education/Social Services.  (Formal Minutes of 
the meeting will be taken and it should take place no longer than one week after the arrival of the encampment.) 
 
Proposed recommendation for action will be either: 
 
 S.77 Serving of Direction on campers (Monmouthshire County Council) or S.61 (Gwent Police), under Criminal Justice and Public 

Order Act 1994.  
Or 
 Tolerate encampment for up to 28 days. 
 
Other landowners (see Section 3.3) may wish to pursue the civil procedure route. 
 
Authorisation will then be obtained from the Corporate Director of R.E.R. or other Director/Chief Executive in his absence. 

 
Step 3 

 
Evict: 
Refer Legal Services. 

 
Tolerate: 
Monitor site in accordance with toleration procedure. 

 
Step 4 

 
Steps 1, 2 and 3 will be repeated until: 
 Travellers leave in accordance with agreed departure date. 
Or 
 Eviction procedure implemented. 

 
 
 

P
age 52



 
 

APPENDIX 3 
MONMOUTHSHIRE  COUNTY COUNCIL 

ILLEGAL ENCAMPMENT NEEDS ASSESSMENT 
 
Date 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION 

Location of 
encampment 
 
 
 

 

Date of occupation  Intended duration 
of stay 

 

Name of 
spokesperson 
representing family 
group(s) 

 

Number of adults in 
Group by Sex 

Male  Female  

Number of Children 
in Group by Sex and 
Age Group 

Male 
 

0-5 6-10 11-16 

 Female 
 

0-5 6-10 11-16 

Number of caravans Number of 
occupants in 
caravan 

Available details on 
occupants 

Identifying features of caravans 

    

    

    

    

P
age 53



    

    

    

HEALTH ISSUES 

Are any of the 
adult females in 
the group 
pregnant and if so 
how many and 
stage of 
pregnancy? 

0 to 3 months 3 to 6 months 6 to 9 months Confinement imminent 

Do any members 
of the group 
require medical 
treatment on a 
regular basis? 

Details 
 
 
 
 
 

Has any member 
of the group 
sought and 
received 
emergency 
medical treatment 
since arriving at 
this location? 

Details 
 
 
 
 
 

Do you require the services of a Health Visitor and/or 
Nurse for any of your group at this location? 

YES/NO  (Delete where not applicable) 

If YES, for what 
specific purpose 
i.e. advice on 
inoculations, 
general 
health/nutrition 
advice, etc. 

Details 
 
 
 
 
 

If NO, do you or any of your group object to the details 
of your group and it's current location being passed to 

YES/NO  (Delete where not applicable) 

P
age 54



the health visitor service? 

SOCIAL ISSUES 

Do you or any member of your group require the 
services of a social worker for your group at this 
location? 

YES/NO  (Delete where not applicable) 

If YES, for what 
particular need i.e. 
guidance, advice, 
etc.  

Details 

 

 

 
If NO, do you or any member of your group object to 
the details (not medical) of the group and it's current 
location being passed to Social Services? 

YES/NO  (Delete where not applicable) 

EDUCATION ISSUES 

Do you or any member of your group require the 
services of an Education Officer at this location? 

YES/NO  (Delete where not applicable) 

If YES, for what 
purpose i.e. 
children and or 
adult educational 
needs? 
 

Details 

Are any of the 
children in school?   
 
YES/NO 
 

Name of School Names of children  

If NO, do you or any member of your group object to 
the details (not medical) of the group and it's current 
location being passed to an Education Officer? 
 
 

YES/NO  (Delete where not applicable) 

HOUSING ISSUES 

Do you or any member of your group regard YES/NO  (Delete where not applicable) 

P
age 55



themselves as homeless? 

If YES, what 
reason do you 
give for regarding 
yourself and/or 
any member of 
your group as 
being homeless 
and do you or any 
of your group 
require details of 
what action you 
need to take i.e. 
where to go and 
who to see? 

Details 

 
VEHICLE CONDITIONS 

Do you or any of your group have a vehicle 
(Car/LGV/HGV/Trailer) that is not capable of moving 
or being moved due to mechanical breakdown? 

YES/NO  (Delete where not applicable) 

If YES, what steps 
are you taking to 
resolve the 
situation? 

 

Description and 
registration 

Details 

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

P
age 56



 
OTHER MATERIAL INFORMATION 

Do you or any of your group have any further 
information to give that may be of assistance to the 
Council in deciding on what course of action it intends 
to take in respect of your presence for residential 
purposes at this location? 

YES/NO  (Delete where not applicable) 

If YES, what 
information do you 
or any member of 
your group wish to 
give? 

Details 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
I confirm the above details appear to be an accurate reflection of the current needs of our group 
 
Signature of Travellers Representative 
 

Date 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Guidance on 
Managing Unauthorised  
Camping 2013

Page 59



Digital ISBN 978 1 4734 0683 4   
© Crown copyright 2013  
WG20092 Page 60



Contents 

 
Flowchart – Which part of this guidance applies to 
the encampment I wish to resolve?..........................1 
 

Section 1 – Introduction ...........................................2 
 

Section 2 – Understanding Unauthorised 
Encampments and possible remedies .....................7 
 

Section 3 – Legislation ...........................................13 
 

Section 4 – Roles and Responsibilities ..................19 
 

Section 5 – Step-by-Step Guide to Resolving 
Unauthorised Encampments..................................21 
 

Section 6 – Communicating Decisions...................34 
 

Section 7 – Local Strategies ..................................35 
 

Section 8 – Evaluation of the Guidance.................38 
 

Annex 1 – Negotiated  Code of Conduct................39 
 

Annex 2 – Initial Encampment Assessment...........41 
 

Annex 3 – Welfare Assessment. ............................44 
 

Annex 4 – Potential Legal Powers. ........................50 
 

Glossary .................................................................51 
 

Page 61



 

 1

 

Which part of this guidance applies to the encampment I wish 
to resolve? 

 
 
 
 Who owns / manages 

the occupied land?  
 
 

 
 

Private Public 

 
 
 
 
 Other 

public body 
Local 

authority 
 
 
 
 

Go to paragraphs 84-85 
and Annex 4 for 

guidance 

The entirety of 
this guidance is 

relevant 

Guidance should 
be relevant, 
particularly 

paragraphs 81-83.  

The process of responding to unauthorised camping may alter dependent 
upon who owns the occupied land. Public authorities have additional 
responsibilities which do not apply to private landowners. For more guidance 
on this matter, please go to the relevant page number suggested above. 

 
   

 
 

A summary of potential legal powers available to all landowners  
is available at Annex 4. 

Page 62



 

 2

Welsh Government Guidance on 
Managing Unauthorised Camping 

 

Section 1 – Introduction 
 
1. Unauthorised encampments can be the source of community tensions and 

require sensitive handling as public authorities attempt to find a balance 
between the rights of campers and local residents. 

 
2. An unauthorised encampment is an encampment of caravans and/or 

vehicles on land without the landowner’s or occupier’s consent and 
therefore constituting trespass. 

 
3. Unauthorised camping does not relate to cases where land has been 

bought and occupied, without the appropriate planning permission. That is 
known as unauthorised development. These types of development will not 
be included in this Guidance. 

 
4. An unauthorised encampment and its unauthorised campers, can be any 

group of individuals or vehicles trespassing on land. However this 
Guidance is aimed at addressing the specific issues around the 
unauthorised encampments of Gypsies and Travellers.  

 
5. ‘Gypsies and Travellers’ is a generic term used to define a number of 

people who subscribe to the Gypsy or Traveller way of life, as well as to 
certain cultural and moral beliefs. This Guidance uses the following 
definition of Gypsies and Travellers: 

 
Persons with a cultural tradition of nomadism or of living in a caravan; and 
 
all other persons of a nomadic habit of life, whatever their race or origin, 
including –  
 

(¡) such persons who, on grounds only of their own or their family’s or 
dependant’s educational or health needs or old age, have ceased to 
travel temporarily or permanently; and 

(¡¡) members of an organised group of travelling show people or circus 
people (whether or not travelling together as such)1 

 
Therefore, this Guidance may include: 
 

 Romani Gypsies. 

 Irish Travellers. 

 Scottish or Welsh Gypsy / Travellers. 

 European Roma2. 

                                                 
1 Housing (Assessment of Accommodation Needs) (Meaning of Gypsies and Travellers) 
(Wales) Regulations 2007. 

Page 63



 

 3

 ‘New’ Travellers. 

 Show-people. 
 
6. All of these groups are associated with the travelling way of life and can 

share some common beliefs and practices, but each group will have 
distinctive languages, traditions and ethnicity.  

 
7. The Equality Act 2010 prohibits discrimination on the grounds of race 

which includes colour, nationality and ethnic or national origins. Case law 
has established that both Romany Gypsies and Irish Travellers are 
recognised racial groups for the purposes of the Race Relations Act 1976. 
These groups continue to be recognised racial groups for the purposes of 
the Equality Act 2010. 

 
The Picture in Wales 
 
8. Gypsies and Travellers are indigenous to Wales. In 2006, the 

Welsh Government commissioned a report called, “Accommodation 
Needs of Gypsy-Travellers in Wales” (Niner, 2006), which estimated there 
were around 2,000 Gypsies and Travellers resident in Wales. However in 
2009 a desk-based exercise conducted by the Welsh Government 
estimated that there were 4,000 Gypsies and Traveller living in Wales 
either on permanent sites, in transit or living in ‘bricks and mortar’ 
accommodation. 

 
9. The Census 2011 included a new ethnic category for ‘Gypsy or Irish 

Traveller’ but the data suggested a total of just 2,785 Gypsies and Irish 
Travellers in Wales. Given that we know about this reluctance to disclose 
ethnicity, and having undertaken an informal exercise by 
Welsh Government officials to ask if the census 2011 had been completed 
by those living on sites, we recognise that this number may be an under-
estimate. 

 
10. Due to the nature of a transitory population and the reluctance to disclose 

ethnicity, it is difficult to obtain more accurate figures. However, it is clear 
that there are more Gypsies and Travellers and caravans than there are 
permanent sites or authorised places to stop. At the time of publication, 
there were no authorised Temporary Stopping Places or Transit Sites in 
Wales. The distinction between these types of site can be found in the 
glossary at the end of this guidance. 

 
11. Figures from the Welsh Government Caravan Count suggest that the 

proportion of Gypsy and Traveller caravans stationed on unauthorised 
encampments varies between 14-23% of the total. In July 2013, the 
proportion was estimated as 17%, accounting for 169 caravans in total. 

                                                                                                                                            
2 The term “Roma” used by the Welsh Government refers to Roma, Sinti, Kale and related 
groups in Europe, including the Eastern groups (Dom and Lom). 

Page 64

http://www.statswales.wales.gov.uk/TableViewer/tableView.aspx?ReportId=29938


 

Percentage of caravans on unauthorised sites, Gypsy and Traveller 
caravan count 2006-2012

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

2006-2008 2007-2009 2008-2010 2009-2011 2010-2012

January

July

 
 
 
12. The Caravan Count figures are likely to underestimate the true amount of 

caravans on unauthorised encampments as not all encampments will be 
known to the local authority undertaking the survey. A report into the 
English Caravan Count system (Niner, Counting Gypsies and Travellers: A 
Review of the Gypsy Caravan Count System, for the Office of the Deputy 
Prime Minister, 2004), highlighted reasons why this data isn’t always an 
accurate reflection of the Gypsy and Traveller population. 

 
13. In Wales unauthorised encampments tend to occur along the main 

transport routes which traditionally provided opportunities for work as well 
as access to the main ports for Ireland. The main routes are found along 
the M4 corridor as the main route from east to west in the south of Wales, 
the A470 as the main route from north to south Wales and along the A55 
as the link from east to west in the north of Wales. However, 
encampments are found throughout Wales, often nowhere near these 
busy routes. 

 
14. As a reflection of these routes some local authorities in Wales are more at 

risk of unauthorised encampments than others. However all local 
authorities are likely to experience some unauthorised encampments and 
should have policies and procedures in place to ensure that they are dealt 
with in a way that is effective, safe and humane to all parties involved. To 
facilitate this, the Welsh Government has developed this Guidance to 
assist local authorities to develop their own policies. 

 
15. Gypsies and Travellers will often travel to visit cultural shows or fairs. The 

most high-profile Welsh show is the Royal Welsh Show in Llanelwedd, 
Powys. Historically, a large unauthorised encampment of Romani Gypsies 
and Irish Travellers will gather for the duration of the show. In recent 
years, Powys County Council has provided temporary planning permission 
for the encampment. 

 

 4Page 65



 

 5

16. The Welsh Government committed to revising its Managing Unauthorised 
Camping Guidance within the UK’s first Gypsy and Traveller strategy, 
Travelling to a Better Future: A Gypsy and Traveller Framework for Action 
and Delivery Plan. The Welsh Government also committed to create a 
generic protocol which local authorities could adapt to their specific area. 

 
17. The Guidance aligns with the Welsh Government’s Strategic Equality Plan 

by ensuring that Gypsy and Traveller communities are provided with the 
information and support they need to exercise their rights. The Welsh 
Government is committed to equality of opportunity for all, to allow people 
from different backgrounds to live harmoniously together. 

 
Who is this Guidance for? 
 
18. This Guidance is aimed at anyone regularly dealing with unauthorised 

encampments of Gypsies and Travellers, primarily local authorities in 
Wales. 

 
19. However the Guidance may also be of use by other land owners including 

other public authorities, such as National Park Authorities or Health 
Boards, as well as those attending unauthorised sites and assisting 
local authorities in their duties, for example health visitors, Traveller 
Education Services (TES) and police forces.  

 
20. The Association of Chief Police Officers  (ACPO) has issued its own 

“Guidance on Unauthorised Encampments” (June 2011), which is 
designed specifically for members of the police visiting unauthorised sites. 
In conjunction with that guidance, Police may wish to consider this 
document when dealing with instances of unauthorised camping.  

 
21. Though this Guidance is not aimed primarily at Gypsies and Travellers 

who may need to temporarily reside on an unauthorised encampment, 
some community members may find it to be a useful introduction to their 
rights and responsibilities in such a situation. 

 
22. For the purposes of this Guidance the land owner will generally be referred 

to as the local authority. The Welsh Government recognises that 
unauthorised encampments do not occur exclusively on local authority 
owned land but different rules apply to private land owners. These rules 
will be explored briefly later in the document. 

 
Aims of the Guidance 
 
23. The Guidance aims to: 
 

 Provide all parties involved in unauthorised encampments clear 
guidance on roles, responsibilities and rights. 

 Ensure a fair and consistent approach to dealing with unauthorised 
encampments which complies with legislation to a standard that meets 
the needs of all involved. 

Page 66

http://wales.gov.uk/docs/dsjlg/publications/equality/110928gypsytravelleren.pdf
http://wales.gov.uk/docs/dsjlg/publications/equality/110928gypsytravelleren.pdf
http://wales.gov.uk/docs/caecd/publications/120405sepfinal.pdf


 

 6

 Set out recommended courses of action i.e. a step-by-step guide of 
what to do if you are dealing with an unauthorised encampment. 

 Share current good practice examples. 

 Provide templates for undertaking crucial welfare assessments, which 
local authorities across Wales can utilise. 

 

Page 67



 

 7

Section 2 – Understanding Unauthorised Encampments and 
possible remedies 
 
Why do unauthorised encampments occur? 
 
24. Unauthorised encampments vary in purpose and may occur for a number 

of reasons. The primary reason for unauthorised encampments is the lack 
of authorised sites and stopping places. Nomadic Gypsies and Travellers 
have suffered from a systematic closure of traditional stopping places 
through bye-laws, strengthening of laws relating to the use of common 
land for camping, and landowners blocking off historical resting points. 
Meanwhile, demand for authorised pitches has outstripped supply to such 
an extent that Wales now has a severe shortage of Gypsy and Traveller 
sites. 

 
25. The Welsh Government does not condone unauthorised encampments by 

Gypsies and Travellers. However, without sufficient and appropriate site 
provision, effective and justifiable enforcement against unauthorised 
encampments cannot be achieved. Addressing the issue of unauthorised 
encampment must be considered in the context of the current availability 
of adequate site provision. Delivering more authorised sites coupled with 
effective site management will remove the reason for unauthorised 
encampments.  It is vital that local authorities have protocols in place to 
deal appropriately and proportionately with unauthorised encampments. 
As the necessary sites and stopping places are developed these protocols 
will need to be invoked less and less, thereby reducing the administrative 
and financial implications of dealing effectively with the unauthorised 
encampments.   

 
26. It is likely that each unauthorised encampment will differ from the next. 

They may vary in terms of: 
 

 Size: typically encampments will consist of just a few caravans but can 
increase significantly in relation to major funerals or weddings or 
traditional cultural fairs. 

 Location: from concealed grassland areas to protected land or highly 
visible areas e.g. on the road side. Increasingly, encampments are 
occurring on industrial or business parks. 

 Behaviour: as with the settled population some encampments may 
cause a nuisance to the local community while others may not. 

 Impact on the land: some groups may leave an area unspoilt and tidy 
while others may damage the land and leave waste behind.  

 
27. Gypsies and Travellers may be on unauthorised encampments for a 

variety of reasons. These might include (though this is not an exhaustive 
list): 

 
 The occupiers have no authorised pitch on which to station their 

caravan. 

Page 68



 

 8

 Newly married couples may have left their parents’ pitches but have no 
legal pitch of their own. 

 To attend a family event locally such as a wedding or funeral. 

 Attempts to adjust to living in ‘bricks and mortar’ may have failed. 

 To rest overnight whilst travelling to another location, for example to a 
permanent site or a port. 

 Health reasons, for example if a member of the group requires urgent 
medical care, a visit to a GP for medication or if a pregnant woman has 
reached her due date. 

 To find work. 

 To allow school-age children to attend school and receive an 
education. 

 To provide a respite from travelling for an elderly or sick member of the 
group. 

 Poor site management may have led to the group leaving their 
authorised pitch.  

 
28. Longer term encampments will generally occur for education or healthcare 

reasons, or simply because there is no legal alternative pitch available.  
 
29. Shorter term encampments can occur for a wider range of circumstances 

and may only last for the duration of wedding celebrations or for an 
extended period of hospital treatment.  

 
30. Both types of unauthorised encampment will have consequences for the 

local area in terms of the provision of services, enforcement action, and 
access to the occupied land. 

 
31. Local authorities should recognise that it may be more cost effective to 

provide a site, even if that is a temporary tolerated site, than to enforce 
against unauthorised encampments in an area with no site provision and 
where there are a high number of unauthorised encampments. Such sites 
could reduce community tensions, remove the potential of damaged public 
land, and ensure that clear-up costs are reduced. Developing and 
providing authorised, permanent sites would provide revenue for 
local authorities as occupants would be required to pay a pitch fee and 
Council Tax. 

 
32. An authorised site is a site where Gypsies and Travellers are permitted to 

stay with the permission of the land owner and normally enter into a 
contract with the land owner and pay a rental for the pitch they stay on. 
These sites also require the appropriate planning permission. There are 
two types of pitches on authorised sites: permanent residential pitches and 
transit pitches. 

 
33. A transit pitch is another name used for a pitch on an authorised site 

where Gypsies and Travellers may stay for a short period of time of up to 
3 months (see the Mobile Homes Act 1983 Schedule 1 Part 1 Chapter 3).  

Page 69



 

 9

34. Currently there is only one transit pitch located on permanent sites in 
Wales and no designated transit sites (Welsh Government Caravan Count 
data, July 2013). Local authorities have confirmed that mixing permanent 
and transit provision on one site has not often been achieved successfully 
due to tensions that can arise between residents on different types of 
pitch. 

 
35. Local authorities can consider providing temporary stopping places, which 

are intended to serve a particular short-term purpose and are not 
considered to be the permanent solution. Tolerated encampments are 
similar to temporary stopping places, though the latter have been set aside 
explicitly for the purpose of occupation and should provide basic amenities 
for occupiers, including waste disposal, water supply and sanitation. 
Temporary stopping places can also be proactively provided to relocate 
encampments from inappropriate locations. The difference between these 
and transit sites is explained in the glossary. 
 

36. The Welsh Government accepts that some unauthorised encampments 
can cause problems of anti–social behaviour and can raise community 
tensions. Part of the solution to this is the provision of adequate sites 
within the local authority area though some encampments are always 
likely to occur. Providing adequate sites should allow local authorities 
to relocate inappropriate encampments to more appropriate locations.  

 
37. Local authorities must undertake a Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation 

Needs Assessment (Commonly referred to as the GTAA), as required by 
a combination of section 8 of the Housing Act 1985 and section 225 of the 
Housing Act 2004. This assessment is to identify the housing needs in a 
local authority area. Where the assessment identifies a lack of provision 
for Gypsies and Travellers a local authority may wish to consider 
identifying locations for new sites, providing for the identified needs and, 
where possible, Welsh Government encourage them to make full use of 
Welsh Government grants to develop new sites and expand or improve 
existing sites. 
 

38. In 2011, the Welsh Government estimated a need for 350 extra pitches on 
Gypsy and Traveller sites in Wales. As there are currently only 366 pitches 
on local authority Gypsy and Traveller sites, this figure represents a 
severe shortage of culturally appropriate accommodation for these 
communities. The Welsh Government outlined its intention in the White 
Paper, “Homes for Wales: A White Paper for Better Lives and 
Communities”, to introduce a statutory duty on local authorities to provide 
Gypsy and Traveller sites, where there is identified need. The Housing 
(Wales) Bill, introduced in the National Assembly for Wales in November 
2013 makes provision for this duty. 

 
39. The expectation is that new authorised sites should lead to a significant 

reduction in unauthorised encampments.  
 
40. The Welsh Government Gypsy and Traveller Sites Grant will provide 

£1.5m in 2013-14 and offers up to 100% of the costs of site build costs or 

Page 70

http://www.statswales.wales.gov.uk/TableViewer/tableView.aspx?ReportId=29940
http://www.statswales.wales.gov.uk/TableViewer/tableView.aspx?ReportId=29940


 

 10

                                                

refurbishment. The guidance can be found on the Welsh Government 
website3. 

 
Approaches to Resolving Unauthorised Encampments 
 
41. Effectively, if an unauthorised encampment arises and there are no 

alternative authorised pitches in the area, local authorities have three clear 
paths relating to how they can resolve the encampment. Each option 
should be carefully considered:  

 
 Path 1 – To seek and obtain possession of the occupied site (eviction 

proceedings). 

 Path 2 – To ‘tolerate’ the Gypsy or Traveller occupiers, if only for a 
short time, until an alternative site can be found or the occupiers move 
on voluntarily. 

 Path 3 – To find an alternative site, if only on a temporary basis, and 
offer the Gypsy or Traveller occupiers the chance to move onto it. 

 
42. Deciding which path to take is about finding a critical balance between 

considering the welfare and human rights of Gypsies and Travellers, whilst 
safeguarding the human rights of landowners, occupiers and the public, 
and protecting them from health and safety hazards or public nuisance. 
Each encampment should be dealt with on a case-by-case basis. 

 
43. It is recommended that local authorities undertake an initial visit to the 

encampment before deciding which option is the most appropriate. This 
will enable the gathering of key information about why the encampment 
has occurred, if there are any urgent welfare concerns and how long the 
occupiers plan to stay. There is an initial assessment pro-forma available 
as Annex 2 of this document. 

 
44. Encampments will often be first identified by local residents and 

businesses who are concerned about the potential impact on them. 
Concerns will range from anti-social behaviour, fly-tipping, expanding 
camps, permanent occupation, or harm to house prices or business 
interests. Many of these concerns prove to be unfounded but some 
encampments have certainly had a direct and substantial impact on the 
lives of local residents. Therefore, the public may have expectations that 
encampments may be cleared as quickly as possible after the local 
authority has been notified. 

 
45. The initial encampment visit by the lead local authority officer (preferably 

the Single Point of Contact for unauthorised camping, which is discussed 
later in this document) should establish any immediate concerns with the 
condition of the encampment or behaviour and the intentions of the 
occupiers. If little annoyance or impact on local residents is identified, it 
should not be assumed that possession action will be taken against the 
encampment. 

 

 
3 http://wales.gov.uk/topics/housingandcommunity/grants/gypsytravellergrant1213/?lang=en  

Page 71

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/housingandcommunity/grants/gypsytravellergrant1213/?lang=en


 

 11

46. Some form of effective welfare enquiry is necessary to identify whether 
needs exist and the local authority should liaise with other services that 
might have responsibilities towards the campers’ families. These checks 
should be done as quickly as possible, ideally within 24 hours of the 
local authority becoming aware of the encampment. 

 
47. The determination of whether eviction action should be taken should be 

made after consideration of whether the interference with Gypsy or 
Traveller family life and home is justified and proportionate. Any particular 
welfare needs experienced by unauthorised campers are material in 
reaching a balanced and proportionate decision. The human rights of 
members of the settled community are also material if an authority fails to 
act to curb nuisance from an encampment. 

 
48. If there is no substantial risk to public safety and no inappropriate 

behaviour, and no alternative authorised pitches available, the impact and 
benefit of evicting the occupiers should be considered carefully. 

 
49. Tolerated encampments can be pragmatic and cost-effective in terms of 

finding a long-term solution to unauthorised camping in the area. Evicting 
the occupiers will often lead to extensive costs to the local authority and 
police force. Furthermore, if the occupiers had settled in the area due to a 
lack of alternative pitches, it is likely that they will settle on another 
unauthorised camp within the area in the near future. This would then be 
accompanied by even greater costs incurred by the local authority and 
police force. Toleration can also be a useful tool where local authorities 
have not provided enough Gypsy and Traveller accommodation in their 
area. 

 
50. Proactively identifying temporary stopping places can also provide a 

pragmatic and cost-effective solution, which enables the local authority to 
relocate an encampment from an inappropriate location whilst recognising 
the need to provide support to the occupiers. 

 
51. Gypsies and Travellers living in caravans with nowhere to legally station 

them are likely to be legally homeless under section 175 of the Housing 
Act 1996. The circumstances of every individual will inform what duties a 
local authority is subject to under the Housing Act 1996 in respect of those 
individuals. local authorities may wish to consider, in certain 
circumstances, whether it would be appropriate to tolerate the 
encampment until the outcome of any homelessness application is known, 
unless the encampment is an immediate threat to public safety or 
community cohesion. Welsh Government circular 30/2007 – Planning for 
Gypsy and Traveller caravan sites – states that, “a temporary permission 
may be justified where it is expected that the planning circumstances will 
change in a particular way at the end of the period of the temporary 
permission. In cases where there is: 

 
 unmet need and; 

 no available alternative Gypsy and Traveller site provision in an 
area and; 

Page 72

http://wales.gov.uk/pubs/circulars/2007/1948530/gypsyw.pdf;jsessionid=3180BF793D21DBD58381360E15B0EB8F?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/pubs/circulars/2007/1948530/gypsyw.pdf;jsessionid=3180BF793D21DBD58381360E15B0EB8F?lang=en


 

 12

 a reasonable expectation that new sites are likely to become 
available at the end of that period in the area which will meet that 
need;  

 
local planning authorities should give consideration to granting a 
temporary permission”. 

Page 73



 

 13

Section 3 – Legislation 
 
52. There is a range of legislation that is applicable with regard to 

unauthorised encampments. Some of this is detailed below. It is important 
to remember that legislation and protection by law, applies to both the land 
owner and also to Gypsy and Traveller communities. 

 
Housing Act 2004 
 
53. In December 2007, section 225 of the Housing Act 2004 was brought into 

force in relation to Wales. This section places a duty on local housing 
authorities to carry out an assessment of the accommodation needs of 
Gypsies and Travellers (GTAA) residing in or resorting to their district 
when undertaking a review of housing needs in their district under section 
8 of the Housing Act 1985. The assessments will allow proper 
consideration to be given to the accommodation needs of Gypsies and 
Travellers and result in any provision being properly researched and 
therefore needs-based. 

 
54. The GTAA must inform the development of a local authority 

Housing Strategy where that local authority has been directed by the 
Welsh Ministers under section 87 of the Local Government Act 2003 to 
prepare a strategy in respect of meeting such accommodation needs. 

 
55. Section 225(5)(a) of the Housing Act 2004 states that the meaning of 

“Gypsies and Travellers” has the meaning given by regulations made by 
the appropriate national authority. The Welsh Ministers prescribed the 
definition for the purposes of section 225 of the Housing Act as: 

 
Persons with a cultural tradition of nomadism or of living in a caravan; and 
all other persons of a nomadic habit of life, whatever their race or origin, 
including –  
 

(¡) such persons who, on grounds only of their own or their family’s or 
dependant’s educational or health needs or old age, have ceased to 
travel temporarily or permanently; and 

(¡¡) members of an organised group of travelling show people or circus 
people (whether or not travelling together as such)4. 

 
56. This definition clearly shows that Gypsies and Travellers who have settled 

in bricks and mortar housing, for any of the reasons stated, still need to be 
included in the GTAA. This is important as many of these people will have 
moved into houses as there was no legal alternative and a large proportion 
will fail to adjust to their new homes effectively, sometimes becoming 
homeless again within a short period of time. Many unauthorised 
encampments will occur directly because of this reason. Therefore, it is in 
local authorities’ interests to ensure their GTAA is completed thoroughly, 

                                                 
4 See Housing (Assessment of Accommodation Needs) (Meaning of Gypsies and Travellers) 
(Wales) Regulations 2007 (S.I. 2007/3235).  

Page 74



 

 14

including surveying those who they may have believed were happy living 
in conventional housing. 

 
57. Many Gypsies and Travellers have a recognised cultural aversion to living 

in houses but currently local authorities only currently have to provide 
bricks and mortar accommodation. The cultural aversion to conventional 
housing has been established in case law5 and has been evidenced by 
various psychiatric assessments of Gypsies and Travellers. Many Gypsies 
and Travellers have lived their entire lives in trailers, surrounded by family 
and used to regular travel. Transition to housing can cause significant 
emotional and mental stress, as families adjust to a more sedentary 
lifestyle and not surrounded by their support networks. This isolation, and 
often prejudice from new neighbours, has led to substance abuse and 
mental illness amongst some. Other families have resorted to only 
sleeping on the ground floor and references to feeling “claustrophobic” in 
conventional housing are common. Many Gypsies and Travellers are 
simply unable to even contemplate moving into conventional housing. As a 
result, many families are made re-homeless due to their inability to cope 
with the transition within a short period of time.  

 
Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 
 
58. Sections 61 and 62 of the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 

confer powers on the police to remove any trespasser and vehicle from 
land. Exercise of the power is conditional on a number of factors and in 
any event only where the senior police officer present at the scene 
reasonably believes that two or more persons are trespassing on land with 
the common purpose of residing there for any period. Reasonable steps 
must also be taken by or on behalf of the occupier6 to ask them to leave. 
[A landowner who is a local authority or another public authority, may wish 
to consider this guidance in exercising their functions as it may show 
reasonable steps have been taken if possession action is taken.] 

 
59. There are further conditions which must exist before the police may 

exercise the powers in section 61 and 62. These include: 
 

 Any of the trespassers have caused damage to land or property (this 
includes to gain entry to the site); 

 Any of the trespassers have used threatening, abusive or insulting 
words or behaviour towards the occupier of the land, their family, or an 
agent acting on their behalf, or; 

 The trespassers have between them six or more vehicles (including 
caravans). 

 
60. Subject to the above, the senior police officer present at the scene may 

direct the unauthorised campers to vacate the site as soon as is 

                                                 
5 The phrase ‘cultural aversion to conventional housing’ first appeared in Clarke v Secretary 
of State for the Environment, Transport and the Regions, [2001] EWHC 800 Admin. 
6 The reference to occupier is a reference to the person entitled to possession of the land in 
question.  

Page 75



 

 15

reasonably practicable. The ACPO Guidance sets out that the police 
should consider becoming involved, including the use of their powers 
under sections 61 and 62 where: 

 
o Local amenities are deprived to communities or significant impact on 

the environment. 

o There is a local disruption to the economy. 

o There is other significant disruption to the local community or 
environment. 

o There is a danger to life; and  

o There is a need to take preventative action. 
 

61. It is also an offence for any trespasser who has left the land as a result of 
this order to return within three months of the direction being given. 
 

62. Sections 62A – E provide further powers for the police in relation to 
trespassers. The police may direct a person to leave land and remove any 
vehicle and other property from the land if certain conditions are satisfied. 
The conditions are: 

 
 There must be at least two persons trespassing on the land. 

 The two persons between them have at least one vehicle on the land. 

 The trespassers are on the land with the common purpose of residing 
there for any period. 

 It appears to the police officer at the scene that the person has one or 
more caravans in his possession or under his control on the land and 
that there is a suitable pitch on a relevant caravan site for that caravan 
or each of those caravans; and 

 The occupier of the land, or a person acting on their behalf, must also 
have asked the police to remove the trespassers from the land.  

 
63. In this guidance, a relevant caravan site is one which is situated in the 

same local authority area as the land on which the trespass has occurred, 
and which is managed by the local authority. The meaning of suitable pitch 
is not defined in this legislation. It is for the courts to interpret legislation, 
but the Welsh Government considers that a suitable pitch is one that 
provides basic amenities including water, toilets and waste disposal 
facilities. This could include a transit site or temporary stopping place, or 
permanent residential site. There should be a reasonable expectation that 
the pitch will be available for peaceful occupation for at least three months, 
except where the trespasser is expecting to move on before that time. In 
determining if a suitable pitch is available, the police officer must consult 
the local authority within whose area the land is situated. Normally, a 
suitable pitch will only be available if there are currently no waiting lists for 
that site. 

 
64. In advising on whether a suitable pitch is available, the local authority 

should take account of the results of welfare enquiries undertaken at the 

Page 76



 

 16

encampment, which may give rise to human rights issues. In particular, 
efforts should be made to find suitable pitches that would enable the 
unauthorised campers to remain together. If the size of the encampment is 
such that this is not possible, then efforts should be made to ensure that 
any dependent members of the encampment are not separated from 
necessary support. For example, parents and dependent children, or 
adults supporting elderly or infirm relatives, should not be separated. 

 
65. Section 77 of the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 gives local 

authorities the power to direct persons to leave land and remove any 
vehicles or property. Failure to comply with a direction is an offence and 
punishable by a fine. In addition, if a direction is not complied with the local 
authority may obtain an order from the magistrates’ court under section 78 
of the Act. The order may require the removal of any person on the land 
together with vehicles and may authorise the local authority to take such 
steps that are reasonably necessary to ensure that the order is complied 
with. 

 
Highways Act 1980 
 
66. Section 143 of the Highways Act 1980 gives a power to a highway 

authority to remove, on one month’s notice, any structures set up on a 
highway. The definition of structure includes a caravan or vehicle and a 
court order is not necessary to use this section.  

 
Civil Procedure Rules 1998 
 
67. A possession order can be obtained in the civil courts requiring the 

removal of any trespassers from property under Part 55 of the Civil 
Procedure Rules. This remedy is also available to private landowners.  

 
European Convention on Human Rights /Human Rights Act 1998 
 
68. The Human Rights Act 1998 (HRA) came into force in October 2000, 

incorporating the European Convention on Human Rights into British law. 
Broadly speaking, the European Convention on Human Rights requires 
that all decisions made by public authorities must be compliant with the 
rights conferred by the European Convention on Human Rights. Public law 
requires that decisions of public bodies are reasonable and proportionate 
having regard to all the circumstances. A public authority must determine if 
any interference with a Gypsy or Traveller’s home and private and family 
life is justified and proportionate. It is recommended that all decision-
making is fully recorded and evidenced. This is in order to ensure that all 
decisions are supported by the relevant information and evidence and in 
the event of the decision being revisited or reviewed, the relevant 
information would be readily available to the local authority. If any decision 
is the subject of any legal challenge the information would also assist the 
local authority to present their rationale for the decision so as to assist the 
court to determine any challenge.  

 

Page 77



 

 17

69. Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights is of major 
importance in connection with the home of a Gypsy or Traveller. Article 8 
states that: 

 
“(1)Everyone has the right to respect for his private and family life, his 

home and his correspondence. 

(2) There shall be no interference by a public authority with the exercise of 
this right except such as is in accordance with the law and is necessary 
in a democratic society in the interest of national security, public safety 
or the economic well-being of the country, for the protection of health or 
morals, or for the protection of the rights and freedoms of others”. 

  
70. ‘’Home’’ can include a caravan even if it is unlawfully or illegally parked. 

Therefore Article 8 may apply to those persons on unauthorised 
encampments as well as tenants of authorised sites. 

 
71. The European Court of Human Rights has established that Article 8 

imposes a positive obligation on the United Kingdom to “facilitate the 
Gypsy way of life” (Chapman v UK (2001) 33 EHRR 399 refers). However, 
this is to be balanced against what is proportionate and does not prohibit a 
local authority taking steps to address instances of unauthorised camping. 

 
72. Article 14 concerns prohibition of discrimination and should be read in 

conjunction with Article 8:          
 

“The enjoyment of the rights and freedoms set forth in this Convention 
shall be secured without discrimination on any ground such as sex, race, 
colour, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social 
origin, association with a national minority, property, birth or other status.” 

 
Equality Act 2010 
 
73. Section 149 requires public authorities, including local authorities and the 

Police, must, in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the 
need to eliminate unlawful discrimination; advance equality of opportunity; 
and foster good relations. Both Romani Gypsies and Irish Travellers are 
recognised as ethnic minorities which is a protected characteristic under 
the Act. 

 
74. For the purposes of the Equality Act, this ethnic minority status is not 

dependent on a requirement to travel. 
 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 
 
75. Local authorities have powers under this Act to address issues of waste, 

statutory nuisance and litter in its area. Local authorities may therefore 
wish to consider the use of such powers in appropriate circumstances.  

 

Page 78



 

 18

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
 
76. The results of the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs 

Assessment are expected to provide key evidence to inform the 
preparation by individual local planning authorities (LPAs) of policies for 
caravan sites for Gypsies and Travellers in their Local Development Plan 
(LDP). Welsh Assembly Government Circular 30/2007, ”Planning for 
Gypsy and Traveller Caravan Sites”, provides the main source of national 
planning guidance for LPAs in respect of Gypsy and Traveller sites. Key 
guidance includes: 

 
a) where there is unmet need for Gypsy and Traveller 

accommodation, sufficient sites should be allocated by the LPA in 
their LDP; 

b) the LPA should work with the Gypsy and Traveller community, 
encouraging them to put forward candidate sites; 

c) co-operation between neighbouring authorities can provide more 
flexibility in identifying sites; 

d) fair, reasonable and realistic criteria based policies should also be 
included in LDPs, to cater for future or unexpected demand. 

 
77. Where Gypsies or Travellers (or anyone else) buy land and develop it as a 

caravan site without planning consent, any enforcement must be through 
the planning system; the powers described earlier (and in Annex 4) 
against trespass cannot be used. Enforcement is a matter for the 
discretion of the local planning authority. Decisions to enforce must be 
made on planning grounds. Case law has determined that all enforcement 
measures must be proportionate in the context of the European 
Convention on Human Rights, and in particular the Gypsy or Traveller's 
rights under Article 8.  LPAs should assess what effect, if any, the absence 
of existing site provision would have on the ability to take, and defend, 
such actions successfully in any subsequent appeal.  

 
78. Guidance on using planning enforcement powers is available in Welsh 

Office Circular 24/97 and Technical Advice Note 9: Enforcement of 
Planning Control. The current enforcement regime provides a mix of 
powers with which to deal with breaches of planning control in a controlled 
but flexible manner including the issue of enforcement and stop notices. 

Page 79

http://wales.gov.uk/pubs/circulars/2007/1948530/gypsyw.pdf?lang=en
http://wales.gov.uk/pubs/circulars/2007/1948530/gypsyw.pdf?lang=en


 

 19

Section 4 – Roles and Responsibilities 
 
The Welsh Government 
 

79. If you experience an unauthorised encampment this document sets out 
Welsh Government guidance about good practice. However, the 
Welsh Government does not have an enforcement role in regards to 
unauthorised Gypsy and Traveller encampments and cannot intervene 
on behalf of a land owner or a member of the public.  
 

80. Where an unauthorised encampment occurs on Welsh Government 
land the same guidelines and statutory responsibilities outlined in this 
guidance apply. 

 
Public Authorities: 

 
81. Local authorities and other public authorities (including National Parks) 

as land owners have a responsibility to their local community, including 
Gypsy and Traveller communities. Where an unauthorised 
encampment occurs on public authority land, it is recommended that 
officials within the authority appoint a Single Point of Contact (SPOC) 
or other lead officer, who would undertake the appropriate 
assessments (which are detailed further on), coordinate other relevant 
authorities and provide advice to senior officials who will determine the 
appropriate action to take. 

 
82. It is recommended that the SPOC will have a role that is involved with 

direct management of, or liaison with, unauthorised encampments in 
the local area. To work most effectively, the role should have 24 hour 
emergency fallback cover to ensure that any developments associated 
with the unauthorised encampment are dealt with properly and 
consistently at any time of the day. 
 

83. As local authorities have appropriate skills and resources to enable 
them to make (or co-ordinate) welfare assessments, it is considered 
good practice for local authorities to respond positively to requests for 
assistance in undertaking these assessments from the police or other 
public authorities. 

  
Other Land Owners: 
 

84. Private land owners experiencing unauthorised Gypsy and Traveller 
encampments on their land are not bound by the same statutory 
responsibilities as public authorities, but should in the first instance 
contact their local authority to determine if a Gypsy and Traveller 
Liaison Officer (or equivalent) is in place to mediate. Alternatively, the 
SPOC / lead officer or the local police force may be able to assist. 

 
85. Private land owners will need to seek their own legal advice when 

attempting to resolve unauthorised encampments on their land. 

Page 80



 

 20

Police Forces: 
 

86. Police officers should not be used as a standard way of dealing with 
unauthorised encampments, but the involvement of police officers 
should not presume an eviction. The police, as with other public 
authorities, also have responsibility to assess the situation and the 
impact of the encampment before making an informed decision which 
minimises the impact on the safety or health of any party involved. 
 

87. Where possible it is recommended that police officers visit the 
unauthorised encampment with a local authority officer, the landowner 
or an officer from another relevant agency. Police visits can be 
perceived as confrontational and the presence of police officers may 
inflame a situation, so police personnel should be kept to a minimum 
while ensuring the safety of officers. The level of personnel should be 
determined by the attending police force in conjunction with the ACPO 
Guidance. 

Page 81

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=acpo%20guidance%20unauthorised%20camping%202011&source=web&cd=1&ved=0CB8QFjAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.acpo.police.uk%2Fdocuments%2Fedhr%2F2011%2F20110913%2520EDHR%2520ACPO%2520Guidance%2520on%2520Unauthorised%2520Encam
http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=acpo%20guidance%20unauthorised%20camping%202011&source=web&cd=1&ved=0CB8QFjAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.acpo.police.uk%2Fdocuments%2Fedhr%2F2011%2F20110913%2520EDHR%2520ACPO%2520Guidance%2520on%2520Unauthorised%2520Encam


 

 21

Section 5 – Step-by-Step Guide to Resolving Unauthorised  
 
Encampments 
 
This section of the Guidance is intended for local authorities to use when 
addressing an unauthorised encampment that has occurred in their area. 
Encampments should be assessed on a case-by-case basis but this section 
should provide the tools for authorities to develop their approach. 
 
Step 1 – Encampment Reported 
 

88. Usually, the first knowledge of an unauthorised encampment will come 
from reports by local residents or businesses in the vicinity of a newly-
formed encampment.  

 
89. Local authorities must ensure that they have an effective means of 

responding to encampments as they occur. It is recommended that 
local authorities appoint a Single Point of Contact (SPOC) to deal with 
unauthorised encampments in their area and all staff should be made 
aware of their existence and contact details. It is especially important 
that complaints officers and switchboard operators have these details. 

 
90. The SPOC does not necessarily need to be the same officer for every 

encampment. The value of having a single contact in relation to all 
developments related to a particular encampment is that the local 
authority should be able to respond swiftly to any change in 
circumstances. Nevertheless, the SPOC will not be the only officer 
involved in the response and should not be isolated in this regard. 
Senior leadership is required to ensure that all relevant officers can be 
coordinated and decisions are made on how to resolve the 
encampment at a senior level. 

 

Page 82



 

 22

Good Practice 
 
The role of the Single Point of Contact (SPOC) 
 
Each local authority should develop its own protocol for responding to 
unauthorised camping, which will establish the procedure and personnel 
necessary. However, it is recommended that a lead officer is identified to 
undertake the following roles: 
 

1. Liaise with occupiers and other affected parties. 

2. Undertake or coordinate the necessary assessments and involvement 
of relevant officers to ensure needs are addressed. 

3. Communicate the evidence and provide recommendations to senior 
officials who will ultimately decide what action to take. 

4. Ensure that all stakeholders are made aware of the proposed action 
and disruption to all is minimised. 

 
Be sufficiently trained to provide culturally appropriate support and to 
understand how various actions and circumstances may impact upon the 
human rights of occupiers (particularly children and vulnerable others). 

 
91. Regardless of who notified the local authority about the existence of 

the encampment, managing the expectations of local communities and 
businesses should be considered. The publication and dissemination of 
information about myths and facts, or question and answer booklets 
may help the local authority as it responds to the encampment. 

 
92. In the first instance the local authority should try and obtain as much 

information from the informant as possible, whilst taking account of the 
fact that the informant may wish to remain anonymous. For example, 
useful information may include: 

 
 The location of the encampment. 

 How long the encampment has been established. 

 The number of people and vehicles present. 

 If contact has been made between the informant and occupiers. 

 Details of any nuisance of anti-social behaviour reported by the 
informant. 

 Contact details for the informant if they wish to be informed of 
developments relating to the encampment. 

 
Step 2 – Initial Encampment Visit 
 

93. Once the informant’s report of the encampment is logged, it is 
recommended that the SPOC or lead officer aims to conduct an Initial 
Encampment Visit within 24 hours, as far as this is reasonably 
practicable. Completing this first visit within that time period will 

Page 83



 

 23

reassure local residents or businesses that their concerns are being 
considered and can ensure that any immediate health and safety or 
welfare concerns affecting the encampment occupiers can be dealt 
with promptly. If the local authority becomes aware of the encampment 
without complaints being received, there may be less need for the 
SPOC to respond so quickly unless they become aware of possible 
welfare issues that need investigation.  

 
94. The SPOC should be deployed to undertake an Initial Encampment 

Assessment (a universal template is available at Annex 2). This 
assessment is to determine whether the encampment poses any 
immediate threat to the residents of the encampment or the local 
community. This visit should also determine the intended duration of 
the stay and whether a full Welfare Assessment is required. 

 
95. The purpose of the Initial Encampment Visit is to: 
 

 Check the accuracy of the initial report. 

 Determine the safety of the encampment. 

 Collect basic information such as the number of occupiers and 
vehicles, the intended length of stay, any potential problems and 
the state of the land and the encampment. 

 Collect initial welfare information and determine whether a full 
Welfare Assessment is required. 

 Determine whether the involvement of additional agencies is 
required, such as Traveller Education Services or Health Visitors. 

 Determine whether any services will be provided on the site. 

 Willingness and ability of occupiers to pay for services provided;. 

 Inform the occupiers of the expected standard of behaviour and 
consider negotiating a Code of Conduct. 

 Inform the occupiers what will happen next. 

 Provide the occupiers with key local contact details, including 
healthcare and education professionals and the SPOC / lead 
officer. 

 
96. The local authority SPOC or other lead officer should be given 

sufficient training to help them to gather all the relevant information 
from encampment occupiers and local residents. This would include 
cultural awareness training and some basic knowledge of important 
indicators of welfare concerns, such as training on the United Nations 
Convention on the Rights of the Child. It is recommended that the 
local authority offers the informant an opportunity to meet with the 
SPOC shortly after the initial encampment assessment, as this will 
show that concerns are being dealt with. 

 

Page 84



 

 24

97. If the SPOC is not usually the lead officer for incidents of unauthorised 
camping they should know who is and act quickly to ensure the 
information is passed on. 

98. The local authority should adopt a protocol for attending encampments. 
It is recommended that Police personnel are kept to a minimum or that 
Police are not involved at all during the initial encampment assessment 
as this can lead to tensions. 

 
99. The Welsh Government would recommend a full Welfare Assessment 

be undertaken if: 
 

 There are any obvious signs of welfare requirements, such as 
pregnant women, sick or disabled residents, frail elderly residents 
or children under 5. 

 The likely duration of the encampment is over 3 days. 

 There are immediate risks to the occupiers or residents such as 
contaminated land or traffic issues. 

 There are school-age children present, within four weeks of the end 
of term. 

 If there are obvious issues that are affecting the landowner’s 
business or quality of life, making urgent possession action likely. 

 
100. A full Welfare Assessment may not be required if: 
 

 the expected duration of the encampment is 3 days or less; 

 the occupiers intend to move on directly following a family event; 

 the occupiers are in transit to another destination (such as to meet 
family or to a harbour) and are only stopping overnight.  

 
101. In these circumstances a decision may be made to allow the 

encampment to remain on a short-term basis. However, this 
agreement should be monitored and if the encampment exceeds the 
expected stay, the initial assessment and the issue of a full Welfare 
Assessment should be revisited. 

 
102. Where the decision is made not to undertake a full Welfare 

Assessment, officers should satisfy themselves that due process has 
been followed, satisfy themselves that they do not consider there to 
be a danger to either the residents of the encampment or the local 
community and ensure that the appropriate action has been taken. 

 
103. Even when the encampment is likely to be 3 days or less, 

exceptionally the decision may be made not to allow the campers to 
remain. Reasons for this are detailed below. 

 
104. During the initial encampment visit, the local authority may wish to 

negotiate an agreed Code of Conduct. A generic template is 
available at Annex 1. Local authorities should consult encampment 

Page 85



 

 25

occupiers and affected local businesses, landowners and 
neighbours when finalising the Code. The objective should be to 
reach consensus on expected standards and responsibilities, which 
are sensitive to cultural differences between travelling and settled 
communities. 

 
105. When providing occupiers with useful information and contacts, or 

when negotiating the Code of Conduct, it will be necessary to 
consider the need for accessible materials. 

 

Good Practice 
 
Leeds City Council & Leeds GATE – Negotiated Stopping 
 
In January 2011, Leeds City Council published the findings of the 
Neighbourhoods and Environment scrutiny panel, which recommended a pilot 
‘Negotiated Stopping’ scheme. The scheme reviewed possible land for 
temporary stopping places using the following criteria: 
 

 That the land was a ‘defensible space’ in that land available was 
restricted and any encampment therefore would be restricted in size. 

 That there was some ‘buy-in’ to the project among local business 
owners, the police and elected members. 

 The location was safe for the families and that they were prepared to 
stay there. 

 
The initial agreement lasted 3 months and the authority provided waste 
disposal and toilets for each family. Leeds Gypsy and Traveller Exchange 
(GATE) provided liaison support between occupiers and the local authority. 
 
A second location was found soon after and local elected members have 
expressed that they are content for the scheme to be extended. Leeds City 
Council estimates that it has saved in excess of £100,000 so far through 
reduced eviction and cleanup costs associated with unauthorised camping. 

 
106. Many Gypsies and Traveller have limited literacy so it is important 

that local authorities ensure that occupiers are able to read the Code 
of Conduct and other materials provided. If literacy is a problem, the 
local authority should ensure that occupiers are made aware of the 
contents of the supplied documents. 

 
Step 3 – Completing the Welfare Assessment 
 
107.  A local authority is subject to a number of duties, including those 

contained in education, children and housing legislation. These 
duties apply equally in respect of Gypsy and Traveller communities 
and therefore local authorities should conduct an effective Welfare 
Assessment to ensure compliance with their legal duties. 

 

Page 86



 

 26

108. All public authorities are bound to act reasonably and proportionately 
in exercising their functions. As local authorities have appropriate 
skills and resources to enable them to make (or co-ordinate) welfare 
assessments, it is considered good practice for local authorities to 
respond positively to requests for assistance in undertaking these 
assessments from the police or other public authorities. 

 
109. Welfare Assessments have invariably differed in content across 

Wales. In order to provide consistency and to assist authorities who 
have previously not had a protocol in place for dealing with 
unauthorised encampments, we have devised a universal template 
for Welfare Assessments contained at Annex 3. The 
Welsh Government recommends that all local authorities utilise this 
template. 

 
110. It is recommended that the full Welfare Assessment is undertaken 

no later than 3 working days after the encampment has been 
reported. The purpose of the assessment is to understand the needs 
of the encampment occupiers and to ensure that the local authority 
provides for any vulnerable members of the group. 

 
111. It is recommended that the SPOC / lead officer undertakes the 

Welfare Assessment, gathering crucial information about the 
encampment including: 

 
 How many occupiers and vehicles (including caravans) are 

present. 

 How many of the occupiers are children. 

 How many of the occupiers are elderly. 

 If any occupiers are disabled. 

 If there are any health issues /medical conditions affecting the 
occupiers e.g. hospitalised relatives, pregnant women, post-natal 
mothers and babies, those recovering from serious illness or 
injury etc. 

 If there are school examinations impending. 

 What local authority services are considered appropriate 
e.g. refuse collection, portable toilets, water etc. 

 Reasons for and intended duration of stay. 
 
112. When undertaking the Welfare Assessment, it is recommended that 

the SPOC is capable, or accompanied by another colleague who is 
capable, of assessing the needs of the encampment occupiers. 
Local authorities should be aware that for cultural reasons some 
female occupiers will not participate in this process if they are 
approached by male visitors. It would be good practice for a mixed 
gender team to undertake the Welfare Assessment, where possible.  

 

Page 87



 

 27

113. It should also be recognised that the quality and quantity of 
information gathered during the Initial Encampment Assessment and 
Welfare Assessment will depend, to some extent, on the relationship 
the occupiers have with those asking the question. Cultural-
awareness training and some time spent listening to the reasons for 
the encampment can often go a long way towards producing better 
results. It may also be advantageous to ensure that officers 
undertaking the welfare assessments are not the same officers who 
conduct enforcement proceedings. 

 
114. These Welfare Assessments will provide the necessary information 

for the SPOC to liaise with relevant colleagues in the education and 
housing departments of the local authority or with Police and Health 
professionals. Some camp occupiers may be reluctant to provide full 
information so those undertaking the assessment should ensure that 
occupiers are made aware of how the information may help them if 
there are welfare concerns present.  

 
115. Information gathered in the course of visits and enquiries is subject 

to data protection legislation. Photographs of individuals can also be 
considered as personal information, if those individuals are 
identifiable. Authorities should make clear the purpose for which 
information is being collected and give assurances about how it will 
be used and to whom it might be passed. These Welfare 
Assessments must be kept for audit purposes and may be required if 
any legal challenge is taken in response to any possession 
proceedings. 

 
116. Local authorities have no power to insist that information be given to 

it as part of the Welfare Assessment. Where information is not 
disclosed, the fact that questions were asked and not answered 
should be clearly recorded to avoid any subsequent claim of failure 
to take some relevant consideration into account. If occupiers give 
reasons for not responding, these should also be noted. Occupiers 
should be informed of any possible consequences of not providing 
information when requested. If they want to provide information 
through another person they trust, they should be able to do so 
provided that arrangements can be made quickly. 

 
117. When unauthorised encampments are evicted there can be 

considerable clean-up costs incurred by local authorities. However, 
providing refuse collection, toilets, and water to occupiers can 
drastically reduce clean-up costs after an encampment has been 
moved on. Welfare Assessments can help local authorities to check 
which of these services might be required by the occupiers and also 
to discover if the occupiers would be prepared and able to pay for 
the services. If the occupiers are willing to pay for the services used, 
local residents could be informed of this so as to dispel the 
perception that encampment occupiers do not pay for services. 

 

Page 88



 

 28

118. Local authorities should seek to assess the circumstances of each 
family to ensure that the decision-making process about how to 
resolve the encampment is informed by the full facts. 

 

Good Practice 
 
Wrexham County Borough Council & Betsi Cadwaladr University Health 
Board – Welfare assessments 
 
In Wrexham, the local authority and local health board work have an 
established agreement for Betsi Cadwaladr university health board to attend 
unauthorised encampments to undertake welfare assessments when 
required. 
 
This system allows welfare needs to be properly assessed by professionals 
who are not involved in eviction procedures. This may lead to increased 
participation on the part of the occupiers. 

 
Step 4 – The cost-benefit analysis and resolving the issue 
 
119. Unauthorised encampments are, by definition, unlawful. However it 

is recognised by the Welsh Government that until the issue of site 
provision is properly addressed unauthorised encampments will 
continue to occur.  

 
120. Each encampment location must be considered on its merits against 

criteria such as health and safety considerations for the 
unauthorised campers, traffic hazard, public health risks, serious 
environmental damage, genuine nuisance to neighbours and 
proximity to other sensitive land-uses. 

 
121. When assessing the campers’ circumstances it is particularly 

important that local authorities consider how the encampment 
impacts on children and how eviction actions will also impact on 
those children. This process should help local authorities to assess 
what action would be in the best interests of child occupants, which 
should be a key factor in deciding how to proceed. 

 
122. Local authorities may consider that some encampments will be 

allowed to remain either on a long-term or short-term basis. 
 
123. This decision will be determined by factors including: 
 

 The Initial Encampment Visit Assessment. 

 The Welfare Assessment. 

 Local circumstances. 

 General considerations such as health and safety hazards, 
traffic issues, public health risks and other land users. 

 

Page 89



 

 29

124. There will be locations where the encampment may not be 
considered acceptable, because they fall into one of the categories 
listed below: 

 
 National Nature Reserves, Special Areas of Conservation and 

Special Protection Areas and sites of Special Scientific Interest. 

 School car park or playing fields. 

 Car parks for other key facilities, such as hospitals. 

 An urban park. 

 Public playing fields. 

 A site where pollution or waste from vehicles could damage 
ground, water or water courses. 

 An area with toxic waste or other serious land contamination. 

 The verge of a busy road which poses a danger to the occupiers 
of the encampment. 

 Sites where there is potential for significant harm or disturbance 
to protected species known to be present at, or in close 
proximity to, the site. 

 
125. The circumstances of other locations may also be material 

considerations for local authorities when determining whether an 
occupation can be acceptable. This may include flood risk on the 
site or that the occupation is in sensitive location of a National Park 
or Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. Natural Resources Wales 
(NRW) can advise local authorities on consideration of these 
issues.  

 
126. The local authority and relevant partner agencies will need to decide 

whether the individual circumstances of the encampment, for 
example the risks to public safety or the impact on the local 
community, outweigh other factors such as the welfare and human 
rights considerations of the encampment occupiers.  

 
127. If the Initial Encampment Assessment identifies serious safety and 

welfare concerns, a local authority may wish to consider taking 
immediate action to either rectify the safety concerns, temporarily 
relocate the encampment, or evict the occupiers altogether. All 
possession actions will require welfare assessments to be 
undertaken. Relocating an encampment will be far easier if the local 
authority has established temporary stopping places to be utilised. 

 
128. The Initial Encampment Assessment may also identify urgent 

welfare concerns, which may suggest the need of immediate 
medical or social care responses from the local health board or local 
authority. In this scenario, a local authority may consider that the 
encampment should be tolerated, if only for a short period of time. 

 

Page 90



 

 30

129. Many encampments may fall between these two immediate 
concerns. The full Welfare Assessment will provide the necessary 
information about the occupiers to understand the reasons for the 
encampment and to balance the impact on the local community 
against the likely impact of eviction on the occupiers. 

 
130. This cost-benefit analysis must consider the European Convention 

on Human Rights and whether the local authority has fulfilled its 
duties towards Gypsy and Traveller communities, contained in the 
Housing Act 2004, by undertaking thorough GTAA. Such factors 
may be taken into account by a court if any subsequent possession 
proceedings are brought. More information on this legislation can be 
found between paragraphs 53-57 (Housing Act) and 68-72 
(European Convention on Human Rights/Human Rights Act). 

 
131. When assessing unauthorised encampments with children and 

young people under 18 years of age, it is important to recognise that 
these children may be statutorily homeless and, as such, may be 
considered as ‘Children in Need’. The Children Act 1989, section 
20(1)(c) states that: 

 
“Every local authority shall provide accommodation for any child 
in need within their area who appears to them to require 
accommodation as a result of…the person who has been caring 
for him being prevented (whether or not permanently, and for 
whatever reason) from providing him with suitable 
accommodation or care.” 

 
132. Furthermore, section 17(1) of the Children’s Act 1989 states that it 

is, “the general duty of every local authority –  
 

(a) to safeguard and promote the welfare of children within their 
area who are in need; and . 

(b) so far as is consistent with that duty, to promote the upbringing 
of such children by their families, by providing a range and level 
of services appropriate to those children’s needs.”   

 
133. Conducting robust welfare assessments can help public authorities 

to ensure that they have fully considered the needs of these children 
and can safeguard against potential harm. 

 
134. The Rights of Children and Young Persons (Wales) Measure 2011 

enshrines the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child 
in Welsh law. Currently the Welsh Ministers must have due regard to 
Part 1 of the Convention in making any decision as to any provision 
to be included in an enactment, the formulation of new policy or a 
review or change of any existing policy. From May 2014 this will be 
expanded to the requirement to have due regard in exercising any of 
their functions. 

 

Page 91



 

 31

135. Local health and education professionals have anecdotally reported 
upon the benefits of tolerating encampments, if only for a short 
period of time, as children are able to benefit from education and 
healthcare. That is not to say all encampments should be tolerated, 
as some can certainly be unsafe and potentially damaging to 
children’s welfare. Nevertheless, it is crucial that local authorities 
fully consider the impact of potential eviction proceedings on the 
welfare of children, disabled or ill occupiers when undertaking their 
decision-making procedure. 

 
136. There are also financial costs to consider. Local authorities who 

provide sites, rather than simply take quick enforcement action 
against unauthorised encampments, will often save money in the 
long-term. Adopting the following approaches to unauthorised 
encampments can be cost-effective: 

 
 Providing authorised legal pitches and sites for Gypsies and 

Travellers if there is identified need in the area. Authorised pitches 
allow for local authorities to charge rent, rates and council tax to 
residents. 

 Local authorities could avoid unnecessary enforcement costs if 
the encampment is likely to last three days or less. 

 Providing services such as refuse collection, toilets, and fresh 
water can reduce clean-up costs. 

 Encouraging the occupiers to pay for the services that the 
encampment uses can recoup a significant amount of the 
local authority’s expenditure. Occupiers may be minded to do this 
if it will ease community tensions and allow them to remain at an 
encampment for a reasonable period of time. 

 Identifying alternative temporary stopping places within the locality 
where unauthorised encampments could be relocated and 
tolerated for a short time. 

 
137. In most circumstances, local authorities will have three paths from 

which to choose when resolving the issue of an unauthorised 
encampment and it is important that they carefully consider each 
option (see R(Casey) v Crawley BC): 

 
 Path 1 – To seek and obtain possession of the occupied site 

(eviction proceedings). 

 Path 2 – To tolerate the Gypsy or Traveller occupiers, if only for 
a short time, until an alternative site can be found. 

 Path 3 – To find an alternative site, if only on a temporary basis, 
and offer the Gypsy or Traveller occupiers the chance 
to move onto it. 

 
138. If Path 1 is chosen: It may be sensible to liaise with the Police about 

the intention to evict the occupiers. ACPO Guidance explains the 
Police procedure for dealing with encampments. 

Page 92



 

 32

139. Public authorities following this path need to be satisfied that they 
can demonstrate that possession action is a justified and 
proportionate interference with the rights of the occupants, as 
enshrined in the European Convention on Human Rights. Proper 
welfare assessments should help in this regard. 

 
140. If possession action is to be taken against the unauthorised 

encampment, occupiers will be served with the appropriate 
documentation relating to the power under which they are being 
removed. This may be the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 
1994 or Civil Procedures Rules Part 55. For more information, refer 
to paragraphs 58-65 and 67 under Section 3 – Legislation and the 
‘Summary of Powers’ document at Annex 4. 

 
141. If Path 2 is chosen: cost-benefit analysis has shown that maintaining 

the encampment is the best short-term solution for all. All parties 
should be informed of the decision and encouraged to agree to a 
voluntary negotiated Code of Conduct. This Code formally explains 
what is expected of occupiers and, if the Code is violated, provides 
documentary evidence that occupiers have broken the agreement. 
The local authority should search for an alternative site if the 
occupiers plan to stay in the area. 

 
142. The Code of Conduct template at Annex 1 is intended as a generic 

example of a negotiated code between the local authority and the 
encampment occupiers. The specific requirements of each 
encampment may require an amended version of this template. The 
Code may outline the provision of services, including any 
arrangements for water supply, refuse and sanitation. This example 
suggests that the local authority will provide this access, as 
anecdotal evidence suggests that clean-up costs are much reduced 
as a consequence of this provision. As the Code is voluntary, it is not 
enforceable but it may provide evidence of the character of the 
occupation during planning enforcement process or possession 
proceedings. 

 
143. Though it is acceptable to request payment for services that the local 

authority has opted to provide to occupiers, it should be recognised 
that some occupiers may not be able to afford to pay. The local 
authority should consider whether access to these services can be 
provided despite costs not being met by occupiers. This is especially 
relevant where children, elderly, disabled, pregnant or sick 
individuals are present on the encampment. If authorities are not 
providing waste disposal facilities to an encampment, they should 
also consider whether occupants can utilise the local Civic Amenity 
Site with the vehicles they possess. Information about this service 
should be provided, where appropriate. 

 
144. If Path 3 is chosen the local authority’s cost-benefit analysis has 

identified the current encampment as unsafe or inappropriate but the 
need for culturally-appropriate accommodation in its area is 
recognised. The occupiers may have submitted a homelessness 

Page 93



 

 33

application, which will need to be processed by the local authority. 
For this path to be followed alternative stopping places should be 
identified and the encampment moved, if only on a temporary basis. 

145. Local authorities should have included a ‘criteria-based’ Gypsy and 
Traveller sites policy in their local development plan, which would 
allow the authority to identify appropriate sites in their area when the 
need arises. This should assist the local authority to find temporary 
stopping places in the short-term and permanent residential sites or 
transit sites in future. 

 
146. When making decisions about encampments, local authorities will 

need to ensure that they follow the process outlined in their protocol 
and produce decisions that are reasonable, balanced, and 
proportionate. The local authority unauthorised camping protocol 
should establish the process and personnel required to make the 
decision on which path to take in relation to encampments on a 
case-by-case basis. 

 
147. Whichever path is chosen, the local authority and relevant agencies 

should document all of their assessments and decision-making 
processes, including welfare assessments and the assessment of 
which path to pursue. All stakeholders, including local residents, the 
occupiers, and agencies involved, should be informed of the 
decision. 

 
148. If tolerated, the local authority may wish to revisit the decision about 

provision of services to the encampment. The encampment should 
be monitored to ensure that the negotiated Code of Conduct is not 
broken and to ensure that problems do not develop in the local 
community. 

 
149. There is no formal limit on the duration of tolerated encampments. 

However, local authorities should make provision of sites where 
there is identified need for sites. The presence of a long-term 
tolerated encampment would suggest the need for a permanent site 
in the area, which local authorities should seek to provide. 

 

Page 94



 

 34

Section 6 – Communicating Decisions 
 

150. Regardless of which decision the Local authority takes, it is crucial 
that all affected parties are properly informed. It is good practice for 
the SPOC / lead officer to communicate the decision directly to 
occupiers and local residents / businesses. Written briefings could 
be posted to local residents and businesses explaining the reasons 
for the decision and how it relates to current legislation, policies and 
the local situation. 

 
151. Due to low levels of literacy within Gypsy and Traveller communities, 

it is good practice to ensure that occupiers are able to read and 
comprehend the documents that they have been served with. This 
applies equally to accessible possession orders or a negotiated 
Code of Conduct. The SPOC / lead officer should direct occupiers to 
Gypsy and Traveller Liaison Officers, if one is employed by the local 
authority. In areas without this role, local Gypsy or Traveller 
advocacy groups, local Citizens Advice Bureaux or Regional 
Equality Councils may be able to help. If in any doubt, the SPOC / 
lead officer should be able to direct occupiers to useful support staff.  

 
152. Key points of contact between Gypsy and Traveller communities and 

local services need to be made aware of any possession actions and 
potential knock-on effects on their service users. It is recommended 
that Traveller Education Services, Health Visitors and any support 
group involved, in particular, are informed so that they are able to 
support the families effectively. 

 
153. If the decision is to evict the occupiers, the local authority may also 

wish to notify neighbouring local authorities to alert them to the 
possibility of unauthorised encampments in their area. 

 
154. It is important that local authorities inform the landowner, if it is 

another public body, of its decision to take possession action or not. 
 
155. Local authorities should consider publishing their reasoning for any 

actions taken in response to unauthorised camping. This document 
would make the case for the decision that has been reached by 
balancing the legal obligations of public authorities to both occupiers 
and local residents or businesses. By publishing this reasoning, local 
authorities can avoid accusations from either side that their decision 
was biased in some way. Transparent communication of the reasons 
why an encampment has been tolerated or evicted may lead to 
greater public understanding of what considerations need to be 
addressed and may possibly reduce community tension. 

 
156. Liaising with the police and other appropriate bodies on a multi-

agency media strategy may be sensible where an encampment has 
received considerable news coverage. 

Page 95



 

 35

Section 7 – Local Strategies 
 
157. The Welsh Government recommends that all local and public 

authorities adopt their own protocol for dealing with unauthorised 
encampments. 

 
158. By having this in place, it can help to ensure a fair and consistent 

approach to the issues of unauthorised encampment. 
 
Developing a Strategy 
 
159. It is usually impossible to predict just where and when an 

unauthorised encampment will occur. However, a purely reactive 
response to encampments as they arise is both inefficient and 
ineffective. Local authorities, police forces and other bodies need to 
agree and be clear how they will respond to an encampment in a 
specific area, who will take the lead in what circumstances, and 
who else will be involved.  

 
160. To be effective, this information should be clearly set out in an 

unauthorised encampments strategy and protocol. It is 
recommended that the strategy is developed through consultation 
with all key stakeholders to ensure that it is agreed and effective; 
and it should seek to balance the rights, responsibilities and 
legitimate expectations of the travelling and settled communities. 

 
Objectives of an Unauthorised Camping Strategy 
 
161. The key objectives in a strategy for unauthorised encampments 

might include: 
 

a. Eliminating or at least minimising problems and avoiding the 
need to respond on a crisis basis by advance planning. 

b. Ensuring that the needs, legitimate expectations and human 
rights of all parties – Gypsies and Travellers, landowners and 
the settled community – are considered. 

c. Setting a framework within which clear, consistent and 
appropriate decisions can be made in a transparent manner, to 
comply with the law. 

d. Linking the approach to unauthorised camping firmly to other 
strategies and policies affecting Gypsies and Travellers (site 
provision, planning, health, education, housing etc). 

e. Involving all those with an interest in the process of developing 
the strategy. 

f. Clarifying roles and responsibilities, including establishing who 
will co-ordinate responses and who will make the key decisions. 

g. Ensuring the prevention and detection of anti-social behaviour 
and crime, and effective enforcement against perpetrators. 

Page 96



 

 36

Each local strategy will have its own objectives. 
 
Formulating the Strategy 
 
Taking the Lead 
 
162. Local authorities should take the lead in formulating the strategy, 

being responsible for overseeing and monitoring its implementation, 
and for ensuring that the process is driven forward. 

 
163. The process of producing a strategy involves a number of key 

stages and these might include: 
 

 Appoint a lead officer or Single Point of Contact (SPOC). 

 Set up a strategy working group, with adequate 
support/resources and ensuring key players are involved and 
ensuring liaison with other services. 

 Set up consultation procedures/mechanisms. 

 Ensure consistency with other strategies. 

 Review information from evidence gathering stage on the 
assessment of needs, existing provision and gaps in 
services/provision. 

 Plan new services/improve existing ones, through joint working. 

 Implement the programme. 

 Monitor/evaluate/review.  
 
Who should be Involved? 
 
164. While local authorities take the lead, it is essential that many others 

are involved in the process and are willing to sign up to the strategy 
when it is agreed and published. Generating commitment among 
participants is an important part of the strategy building process. 

 
165. Gaining participation from the local Health Board, Police force, 

Gypsies and Travellers themselves as well as advocacy groups 
who support them, Community Cohesion Co-ordinators, Community 
Safety officers, and local Councillors responsible for Gypsy and 
Traveller encampments, will strengthen the local authority’s 
capacity to respond effectively to the situation and ensure that the 
services of other participations are accessible by occupiers and the 
settled community. Other organisations, such as Natural Resources 
Wales, or private landowners could be involved in this multi-agency 
way of working when the circumstances are appropriate. 

 
166. Local authorities should also consider working on a regional basis 

to ensure that their approach to unauthorised camping and site 
provision is consistent.  

 

Page 97



 

 37

Good Practice 
 
North Wales Gypsy & Traveller Coordination Group 
 

The Group was established after the conclusion of the North Wales Gypsy-
Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment. The group aims to take 
responsibility for coordination and oversight of the planning, monitoring and 
evaluation of activities focused on the Gypsy and Traveller community 
across the six counties and the Snowdonia National Park Authority. To date 
the group have discussed a unified needs assessment process; approaches 
to Gypsy and Traveller policies within Local Development Plans; and 
establishing a rolling needs assessment. 

 
Elements to be Included in the Strategy 
 
There are a number of elements that could be included in the local strategy, 
many of which are laid out in this document. 
 

1. The legislative background. 
 
2. Local information on which the strategy is based, for example, the 

Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessments (GTAA), the 
Bi-Annual Caravan Count data, local figures for unauthorised 
encampments (including police figures) and any recurring encampment 
information etc. 

 
3. Local information on the current level and locations of authorised sites. 

 
4. The approach to be taken when informed of an unauthorised 

encampment, including the appointment of a lead officer or Single 
Point of Contact (SPOC). 

 
5. Protocol for the sharing of information with other agencies and for 

contacting / involving / informing other relevant agencies. 
 

6. The approach to be taken when entering an unauthorised 
encampment, setting out the roles and statutory responsibilities of all 
involved, the assessments to be undertaken and possible courses of 
action. 

 
7. Arrangements for eviction. 

 
8. Protocol for informing neighbouring authorities of families being “moved 

on”. 
 

9. Resources, constraints, and possible risks to being able to implement 
the strategy. This should also identify any training required for officers 
dealing with unauthorised encampments. 

 
10. Monitoring and review period for the strategy. 

Page 98



 

 38

Section 8 – Evaluation of the Guidance 
 
The Welsh Government is committed to evaluating the impact of this 
Guidance to check: 
 

 the extent to which local authorities have adopted the guidance; and 

 its effectiveness in bringing about improvements on the ground. 
 
In the light of the evaluation – and changing circumstances – further guidance 
may be issued in future as appropriate.  
 
The Welsh Government will informally evaluate progress against these 
objectives on an on-going basis. A formal review will take place in 2017. 
 
The Welsh Government’s Fairer Futures Division will be pleased to receive 
comments on the guidance and suggestions for ways in which it might be 
improved.  
 
The address is:  
 
Fairer Futures Division 
Local Government and Communities Department 
Welsh Government 
Rhydycar Office 
Merthyr Tydfil, CF48 1UZ 

Page 99



 

 39

Annex 1 
 

Negotiated Code of Conduct for Tolerated Stopping 
 
You and your family (insert name ………………….) have been permitted 
to remain on this land as a tolerated but unauthorised Gypsy or 
Traveller Encampment for a period of …………… Until ……………. 
This is because……………………………………… 
 
By staying on this land you are agreeing to this negotiated Code of Conduct 
which explains the standard of behaviour which is expected of you and your 
family. 
 
You are expected to treat the land you have occupied and the surrounding 
neighbours with respect. You must also respect the rights and freedom of 
those who also wish or need to use the land. 
 

 You have been permitted to park your caravan and vehicles on a 
particular area of land. You must not camp on any land other than that 
which you have been given permission to remain on. 

 Camping on other publicly used land, such as parks, school fields, car 
parks or play areas, may lead to immediate eviction action.  

 You must not force entry onto any other part of the land or buildings on 
the land. 

 Be careful not to cause any damage to the land itself or property on it 
including fencing or boundary walls, fixtures or fittings. This includes 
any flood defences or defences to prevent trespassing. Particular care 
should be taken not to cause damage to parks, woodlands, school 
fields, or play areas. 

 Vehicles should not be driven on footpaths or highways not designed 
for road vehicles. Doing this could put others at risk and is unlawful. 

 Vehicles and caravans should also be parked in a way that does not 
block access for other people who want to pass or to public facilities. 

 Dumping, tipping rubbish or placing waste materials or trade waste 
such as rubble or tree cuttings on this land may lead to eviction 
proceedings. Please use bins that are provided for domestic waste or 
dispose of trade waste at the local Civic Amenity Site (local tip). 

 Burning of commercial or domestic waste is not allowed on this site. 
Open fires will only be permitted where basic fire safety is observed 
and agreed with the local authority / fire service. 

 You must not dispose of or deposit any human waste on this site. You 
will be issued with a portable toilet. 

 You will be provided with access to water supply. 

 Abuse, harassment or intimidation of any person using this land 
lawfully will not be tolerated. 

Page 100



 

 40

 The local authority asks that those who are willing and able to pay for 
received services (portable toilet, water supply, bins) notify the local 
authority and pay. Services may be withdrawn if they are being used 
inappropriately.  

 You must ensure the welfare of other occupiers and animals, as far as 
reasonably practicable. 

Page 101



 

 41

Annex 2 
 

Initial Encampment Assessment 
 
Date of Assessment  
Time of Assessment  
Assessor/s  
 
  Response Comments/ 

Follow Up 
1. Location of Encampment 

 
  

2. Landowner Identified 
 

  

3. Landowner Complaint 
Made 
 

  

4. Number of Occupants 
How many Men? 
How many Women? 
How many Children (under 
18)? 

 
 

 

5. Number of Vehicles 
How many Cars and 
Vans? 
Any other vehicles? 

  

6. Number of Caravans 
 

  

7. Number of Animals and 
general welfare 
conditions 
 

  

8. Damage to Land Evident 
 

Existing state of land: 
 
 
 
 
Any damage caused by 
gaining entry: 
 
 
 

 

9. Litter or Waste Present 
 
 

  

10. Immediate Welfare 
Issues Identified 
May include: pregnancy, 
elderly people, sickness, 
disability, receiving urgent, 
planned or a course of 

  

Page 102



 

 42

  Response Comments/ 
Follow Up 

medical treatment, children 
close to exam period 

11. Impact of encampment 
to public, neighbours or 
Landowner 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

12. Environmental impact? 
(Is this a Site of Special 
Scientific Interest, in a 
flood risk area, 
contaminated land, 
protected species 
known, risk of polluted 
watercourses? Consult 
Natural Resources 
Wales) 

  

 
 

Survey of Occupants 
 

Have you stayed in this 
area before? 

  

Where?   
When?   

13. 

Any problems 
encountered? 

  

Reasons for this stay? 
There may be multiple 
reasons, including: 
Passing through, 
Local to the area, 
Work in the area,  
No authorised pitch, 
Family event, 
Visiting/ Holiday, 
Illness, 
Hospital Visit, 
Other. 

  

Date of arrival?   
How long are you 
expecting to stay here?  

 
 

 

Are you expecting more 
people to arrive? 

  

14. 

How many? 
When? 

  

Page 103



 

 43

Do you have permanent 
accommodation (pitch 
or bricks and mortar) 
anywhere else? 

  

Do you want permanent 
accommodation (pitch 
or bricks and mortar) in 
the area? Do you want 
to discuss your options 
with a housing advice 
officer? 

  

15. 

Are you seeking a 
transit pitch in the area? 

  

16.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Are you willing and able 
to pay for services on 
this encampment? 
(provide estimated cost; 
services should not be 
withheld purely due to 
lack of payment) 

Toilets: 
 
Water: 
 
Refuse: 
 
Other: 

 

17. Are there school age 
children on site? Are 
they accessing school? 

  

 
Initial Assessment 

 
18. Are there urgent 

concerns that may 
necessitate possession 
action? 
May include: obstruction, 
health and safety 
concerns e.g. dangerous 
place to stop, damage to 
land, threats or violence 
 

  

 
Agreement that information collected is correct 

 
 Signature of occupier 

 
 Date: 

 Signature of lead officer 
 

 Date: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 104



 

 44

Annex 3 
 

Welfare Assessment 
 
Date of Assessment  
Time of Assessment  
Location of Encampment  
Initial Encampment Assessment 
Completed? 

Date 

Names and Positions of Assessors 
At least TWO assessors required 
 

1. 
 
2. 
 
3. 
 

 
 
  Response Comments/ 

Follow Up 
Location of 
Encampment/Address 

  

Map or Grid References   
When was the last 
encampment on this 
land? (if known) 

  

Were services provided 
to the site? 
If so what services? 
May include:  
Water, Refuse/Skips, 
Toilets 

 
 
 

 

1.   

Were services paid for? 
(only applicable if these 
are the same occupants) 

  

Date informed of 
encampment 

  

How was the report 
made? 
By Who? 

  

How was access gained 
by assessors? 

  

2. 

Condition of Site  
Compare to condition at 
time of Initial Encampment 
Assessment 

  

3. 
 

Group Origin (if known) 
Romani Gypsies, Roma, 
Irish Travellers etc. 

  

 Number of Family 
Groups 
It may be that the 

  

Page 105



 

 45

encampment is one 
extended family 

 Number of Adult 
Occupants 

Male: 
 
Female: 
 

 

 Number of Child 
Occupants 

0-5: 
 
6-10: 
 
11-15: 
 
16-17: 

 

4. 
 

Number of Caravans Static: 
Tourer size: 
Motor Homes: 
Other (describe): 

 

 Number of other 
vehicles 

Cars: 
Vans: 
Lorries: 
Other: 

 

 Number and Type of 
Animals 
Please note whether 
these are tethered and 
any welfare concerns 
 

  

5. Reason for 
encampment? 

  

 Expected duration of 
stay? 

  

6. Services provided at 
encampment? 
 

Toilets: 
 
Water: 
 
Refuse: 
 
Other: 

 

 
 

 
Welfare Issues 

 
7. Are any women 

pregnant? 
Yes/ No  

Name   
DOB   

Due Date   
Concerns   

Doctor/ Practice   

 

Receiving Urgent, Local 
Medical Treatment

  

Page 106



 

 46

Is the resident in good 
health generally?

A health professional may 
be required to give an 

accurate assessment in 
regards to being ‘moved 

on’.

  

Overall assessment of 
condition.

Health professionals may 
need to be consulted with 

regard to ‘moving on’.

  

 
Name   
DOB   

Due Date   
Concerns   

Doctor/ Practice   
Receiving Urgent, Local 

Medical Treatment
  

Is the resident in good 
health generally?

A health professional may 
be required to give an 

accurate assessment with 
regard to being ‘moved 

on’.

  

 

Overall assessment of 
condition.

Health professionals may 
need to be consulted with 

regard to ‘moving on’.

  

 
Does anyone within the 
group require regular 
medical treatment/ 
examinations? 

Yes/ No  

Name   
DOB   

Are they receiving 
treatment now?

Please note the resident 
does not have to disclose 

information on their 
condition unless they 

choose to do so. However, 
this may impact on the 

decision whether or not to 
tolerate the encampment 

on a short-term basis.  

  

8. 

Is that one of the   

Page 107



 

 47

reasons for the 
encampment?

Explain if possible
Overall assessment of 

condition.
Health professionals may 
need to be consulted with 

regard to ‘moving on’.

  

 
Name   
DOB   

Are they receiving 
treatment now?

Please note the resident 
does not have to disclose 

information on their 
condition unless they 

choose to do so. However, 
this may impact on the 

decision whether or not to 
tolerate the encampment 

on a short-term basis.  

  

Is that one of the 
reasons for the 
encampment?

Explain if possible

  

 

Overall assessment of 
condition.

Health professionals may 
need to be consulted with 

regard to ‘moving on’.

  

 

Page 108



 

 48

 

9. Have any of the group 
received or are they 
currently in receipt of 
urgent medical 
treatment?  
 
Do any of the group 
require urgent medical 
treatment which has not 
yet been sought? 

Yes/ No 
 
 

 

Name   
DOB   

Treatment received/ 
required

Please include length of 
stay if being treated as an 
‘in patient’ and whether or 

not the patient is still in 
hospital.

  

Hospital/ surgery   
Is a doctor or health 

visitor required to visit 
the encampment?

  

Ongoing treatment or 
long term care required?

  

 

Overall assessment of 
condition.

Health professionals may 
need to be consulted with 

regard to ‘moving on’.

  

 
Name   
DOB   

Treatment received/ 
required

Please include length of 
stay if being treated as an 
‘in patient’ and whether or 

not the patient is still in 
hospital.

  

Hospital/ surgery 
attended

  

Is a doctor or health 
visitor required to visit 

the encampment?

  

On going treatment or 
long term care required?

  

 

Overall assessment of 
condition.

Health professionals may 
need to be consulted with 

  

Page 109



 

 49

regard to ‘moving on’.

10. Are there any disabled 
or elderly persons that 
are unable to move on 

currently?
Health professionals may 

need to be consulted.

  

 
Number of children 

attending local schools?
  

Number of children 
within 4 weeks of 

examinations?

  

11. 
 
 
 

Would you like the 
Traveller Education 

Service to visit?

  

Other Issues 

Did occupiers refuse to 
provide information?

  12. 

If yes, what reasons 
were provided?

  

13. Have there been 
significant changes to 
the encampment since 
the Initial Encampment 
Visit? (Please explain)

  

 
Agreement that information collected is correct 

 
 Signature of occupier  Date: 

 Signature of lead officer  Date: 

 
 
 
 

Page 110



 

 50

Annex 4 
 

Summary of Powers 
 

Below is a list of potential legal avenues for resolving unauthorised camping. 
Please be aware that other powers may exist. Landowners should seek their 
own legal advice when utilising these powers. 
 

The Method of 
Eviction 

Who can use it? What Court? 

Civil Procedure 
Rules (CPR) 
Part 55 

Anyone with a sufficient interest 
in the land including a licensee  

Usually County Court, 
exceptionally in the High 
Court 

Criminal 
Justice and 
Public Order 
Act (CJPOA) 
1994 Section 
61  

The Police Magistrates’ Court 

CJPOA 1994 
Section 62A-E 

The Police Magistrates’ Court 

CJPOA 1994 
Section 77 

Local authority Magistrates’ Court 

Highways Act 
1980 Section 
149 

Highways Authority Magistrates’ Court 

Bye-laws  Local authority and certain other 
public authorities 

 Magistrates’ Court 

Common law 
powers 

Anyone entitled to possession of 
the land including a licensee  

No need for Court 
“approval” 

Planning 
Enforcement 
Powers 

Local authority Depends on type of 
enforcement action 

Page 111



 

 51

Glossary 
 
Words used in this document and what they mean: 
 
Association of Chief Police Officers (ACPO): This is a group made up of high 
level police officers who help the police force make decisions and decide what 
they should be doing about certain issues. They also produced guidance on 
unauthorised encampments. 
 
Authorised: This is something that is allowed. An authorised site has been 
given permission for Gypsies and Travellers to live on by the local authority. It 
can include publicly provided sites or privately owned sites with the necessary 
planning permission. 
 
Guidance: This document is ‘guidance’. This means it gives people advice on 
a subject but is not law. 
 
Gypsies and Travellers: This is a term used to define lots of groups who are 
part of the Gypsy or Traveller way of life. Different groups can include: 
 

 Romani Gypsies. 

 Irish Travellers. 

 Scottish or Welsh Gypsy/Travellers. 

 European Roma7. 

 ‘New’ Travellers. 

 Show-people. 

 Occupational Travellers. 
 
Protocol: This is an agreed plan for how services will deal with an issue. 
 
Public Authority: As well as councils, there are other groups like the National 
Parks or Natural Resources Wales who look after large areas of land for the 
public. Sometimes they have to evict families who have stopped in their area.  
 
Temporary Stopping Place: These are intended to be temporary in nature to 
assist local authorities where a need for Gypsy and Traveller site 
accommodation is accepted but none is currently available. Temporary 
stopping places can be provided to relocate inappropriately located 
encampments whilst alternative sites are progressed. Unlike transit sites, 
these are not intended only for transient communities and should not be a 
permanent solution. Temporary stopping places must make provision for 
waste disposal, water supply and sanitation at a minimum. The Mobile Homes 
Act 1983 does not apply on these places as occupiers would not be legally 
entitled to a place on this site. These sites are also known as Emergency 
Stopping Places. 
 

                                                 
7 The term “Roma” used by the Welsh Government refers to Roma, Sinti, Kale and related 
groups in Europe, including the Eastern groups (Dom and Lom). 

Page 112



 

 52

Tolerated encampments: This is land that Gypsies and Travellers do not have 
permission to stay on for good but where the local authority may decide to 
allow them to stay for a set period. This might be because this is a better 
option for everyone than the cost or impact of evicting the encampment. 
 
Transit Site: Transit sites must be permanently designated as such and 
cannot be occupied by residents for longer than 3 months at a time. This is to 
ensure that pitches can be used for the intended purpose of facilitating the 
Gypsy and Traveller nomadic way of life. Transit pitches can exist on 
permanent residential sites but this practice has led to negative impacts on 
the site in the past. Specific terms under the Mobile Homes Act 1983 apply on 
these sites.  
 
Traveller Education Service (TES): These are teachers who work closely with 
Gypsy and Traveller children to make sure they can get an education. 
 
Unauthorised Development: This is a camp or group of caravans and vehicles 
on land that belongs to the occupier but which doesn’t have the necessary 
planning permission. This guidance does not apply to unauthorised 
developments. Guidance on using planning enforcement powers is available 
in Welsh Office Circular 24/97 and Technical Advice Note 9: Enforcement of 
Planning Control.  
 
Unauthorised Encampment: This is a camp or group of caravans and vehicles 
on land which does not belong to the occupier and does not have the 
necessary planning permission. 
 
Unauthorised Campers: These are the people who are living on an 
Unauthorised Encampment. 

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 PROTOCOL FOR MANAGING UNAUTHORISED ENCAMPMENTS
	1a Appendix 1 Monmouthshire Protocol for Managing Unathorised Encampments
	1b Appendix 2 Future Generations Evaluation Form
	1c Cabinet Report 3.6.2009
	Results of Consultation
	ILLEGAL ENCAMPMENT NEEDS ASSESSMENT

	1d WG Guidance on Managing Unauthorised Camping 2013
	Which part of this guidance applies to the encampment I wish to resolve?
	Section 1 – Introduction
	Section 4 – Roles and Responsibilities
	Section 5 – Step-by-Step Guide to Resolving Unauthorised 
	Encampments
	Section 6 – Communicating Decisions
	Section 7 – Local Strategies
	Section 8 – Evaluation of the Guidance
	Annex 3
	Annex 4
	Glossary



